
2018 STAC Fact Pattern Clarifications 

 

Editor’s Note 

In addition to the questions answered below, the fact pattern has been reposted, revised to reflect 

the following changes: 

• A jury verdict form has been added to the fact pattern at STAC 94. 

• Name of expert Eppi Lepsey has been adjusted to Eppi Leonard. 

• The stipulations have been revised to reflect accurate numbering. 

• Additional jury instructions have been added at STAC 91. 

• Dr. Condon’s age has been changed to 55. 

• Bobby Daley’s birthday has been changed to January 8, 1997. 

• Sam Shields’s birthday has been changed to June 7, 1989. 

• Dr. Condon’s deposition date has been changed to April 7, 2017. 

• Part (c) of the Burden of Proof jury instructions at STAC 90 has been removed.  

Answers to Team Questions 

1. When was, if any, there diagnostic testing performed?  Between STAC 53 & 54, the story 

changes from possibly needing testing in the future to no further testing needed. 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

2. In what state (thrown from car, etc?) was Sam Shields found by police after the accident?  

The report says that his restraint was a 9, which means unknown. 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

3. How long have each of the experts spent working on this case? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

4. Can we get definitions for some of the medical acronyms? (VSS, ULE, PRN, etc.) 

 Answer: The definitions for medical acronyms are as follows: 

VSS:  Vital signs stable 

   ULE:  Upper left extremity 

   PRN:  When necessary/as needed 

5. On page 11 of the rules, paragraph 2 states that on cross examination, a witness does not 

commit a violation when testifying to material facts not included in his or her affidavit as 

long as the witness’s answer is responsive to the question posed.  However, the remainder 

of that rule states that witnesses may only testify to facts provided in the fact pattern and 

reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom (text before paragraph 1), and that no 

inferred fact may be material (paragraph 3) and must be a reasonable inference 



(paragraph 4).  These rules conflict.  May a witness, on cross examination, testify to a 

material fact not in the fact pattern that is not necessarily a “reasonable inference” (as 

defined in paragraph 4), as long as the material fact is not contradicted elsewhere in the 

fact pattern without violating the rules (as paragraph 2 states), or would such an inference 

be a violation (as described in paragraphs 3 and 4)? 

 Answer:  The change in the rule regarding facts outside the record is designed to 

address potential abuse by teams on cross-examination, asking questions that 

cannot be answered based on information in the fact pattern purely in an effort to 

set up impeachment of that witness by omission.  

 If asked a question on cross-examination that is not answerable based on the fact 

pattern, a witness may testify to a material fact not in his or her affidavit so long as 

the witness’s answer is responsive to the question posed and does not conflict with 

anything in the affidavit. As in real trials, an attorney that asks a question he or she 

does not know the answer to risks getting an unfavorable answer from the stand. 

 As an example, in the 2017 fact pattern, it was undisputed that the bar patron who 

later caused an accident did not start drinking at the bar until after midnight when 

he was officially 21. No information was provided about whether the bartender 

checked the ID of that patron but teams asked on cross-examination whether s/he 

checked the ID. An answer of “yes” led to an impeachment by omission because that 

answer was not in the deposition testimony. Answers of “no” or “I don’t know” also 

were not in the deposition testimony but imputed more liability to the 

bartender/owner. Were the witness to be asked that question on cross-examination 

this year, any directly responsive answer – yes, no, or I don’t know – would not be 

considered a violation of the rules and teams may not then attempt to impeach by 

omission on this question.  

6. In the Complaint, it states that Sam Shields resides at 6711 Kessel Rd, Penns Woods, in 

the District of Steelton.  However, in Shield’s deposition and on the driver accident 

report, the address given is 269 Kessel Road, Steelton.  Which is correct?  

 Answer:  Sam Shield’s address is 269 Kessel Road, Steelton. 

7. On STAC 50, one of the comments to the news story was made by Sam Shields.  Is that 

authenticated as a statement by the plaintiff? 

 Answer:  Yes, this comment was made by Sam Shields and the article is 

authenticated. 

8. On page 12 of the rules, it states that counsel and witnesses may draw or make simple 

charts “subject to the rulings of the court.”  Are those “rulings of the court” solely on 

evidentiary issues related to the items on the chart (i.e., that the charts or drawings may 

not reflect facts outside the record), or does the court have discretion to preclude the 

making of demonstratives entirely, independent of a substantive evidentiary objection to 

a demonstrative’s proposed content? 



 Answer:  Judges are encouraged to allow for drawing of demonstratives.  However, 

we cannot guarantee that you will not have a judge who does not allow you to do so.  

If there is an evidentiary issue, the judge may preclude the drawing. 

9. Do health care providers report patients to District of Steelton Department of Motor 

Vehicles or to the Steelton Department of Transportation? Both are mentioned on STAC 

4. 

 Answer: They report patients to the Steelton Department of Motor Vehicles. 

10. In Bobby’s 5/20/17 deposition, he says that he started going to Dr. Condon because he 

was having memory and concentration issues. Then, the attorney later asks him if he still 

has memory loss or loss of coordination. Was Bobby supposed to say that he was having 

concentration issues instead of coordination issues? 

 Answer:  Yes.  The fact pattern has been updated to reflect this change.  

11. Is the photograph in Exhibit F a fair and accurate representation of what Kessel Road 

looked like at the date and time of the accident—inclusive of parked vehicles and other 

surroundings? 

 Answer:  No, this is an image of the road taken after the accident.   

12. The Joint Exhibit list does not include 75 Steelton Statutes § 5.71, 75 Steelton Statutes 

§ 5.81, or 75 Steelton Statutes § 5.87.  Can these statutes still be admitted as exhibits 

during trial? 

 Answer:  No, they may not be admitted as exhibits but can be blown up and used as 

 demonstratives. 

13. The complaint pleads that Dr. Condon was negligent because the Dr. had a duty to report 

to SDOT, and the Dr. knew or should have known that failing to report Bobby Daley to 

SDOT put other members of the motoring public at risk.  This would suggest that the 

only theory of liability against the Dr. is negligence by failing to report as required under 

the statutes. The jury instructions (STAC 92), however, state that even if the jury were to 

find that the Dr. did not violate the reporting statutes, the Dr. could still be held liable if 

the Dr. failed to act as a reasonable person would under the circumstances. Can the 

Plaintiff argue negligence by failing to act as a reasonable person would under the 

circumstances, independent of the reporting statutes, as set forth by the jury instructions, 

or is that argument waived by the Plaintiff's failure to specifically plead it in the 

complaint? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

14. In the defendant’s answer, the defendant raises a comparative/contributory negligence 

affirmative defense.  The jury instructions do not have any language setting forth that 

defense, nor do they establish whether this is a comparative or contributory negligence 

jurisdiction.  Is comparative/contributory fault a defense that the defense can legally 



assert in this competition.  If so will we be getting amended jury instructions to reflect 

that? 

 Answer:  The jury instructions have been updated to reflect that the jurisdiction 

follows comparative negligence.  

15. What definition of seizure is contemplated by the statute? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

16. Are we allowed to read portions of Bobby’s 2017 deposition into the record at any time 

as if the deposition is an admissible exhibit, or do we need to get them in through a 

witness? 

 Answer: Yes, portions may be read into the record by one advocate sitting on the 

stand as a witness and reading answers directly from the deposition transcript. 

17. There is no indication in the file as to who could lay foundation for the photograph or for 

the handwritten drawing of the accident. No indication of who took the photo or when, or 

who drew the diagram and when. Are those exhibits admissible even without the proper 

foundational witness? 

 Answer:  These exhibits are part of the Joint Exhibit list and are deemed authentic 

and admissible subject to objection on grounds that the proposed exhibit is 

otherwise inadmissible under the pertinent rules of evidence. 

18. There appears to be no jury instruction on the defendant's burden for the affirmative 

defense; is that intentional? 

 Answer: No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

19. Is there a definition anywhere of what a “superseding act” is as referenced in the jury 

instructions? 

 Answer: No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

20. STAC 22 states that Bobby was treated by Dr. Condon five times, but there are only four 

dates of treatment in the medical records provided.  Are we missing a record? 

 Answer:  Bobby was treated by Dr. Condon four times and the fact pattern has been 

updated to reflect that change. 

21. What road does Exhibit F show? 

 Answer:  Exhibit F shows Kessel Road, the site of the accident location as stated in 

the Joint Exhibit List (STAC 11). 

22. Dr. Condon advised Bobby Daley to schedule a follow-up appointment for six months 

after his last visit on March 7, 2016.  Was Bobby Daley’s six-month follow-up 

appointment actually scheduled with Dr. Condon? 



 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

23. Who drew the diagram in Exhibit A? 

 Answer:  A police officer drew the diagram in Exhibit A, the Police Incident Report. 

24. What variance and dosage of Gabapentin did Dr. Condon prescribe to Bobby Daley?  

Was it neurotin or one of the other three brand names (Gabarone, Gralise, Horizant) for 

it? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

25. Are all of the doctors aware of the language of the statute at issue for the negligence per 

se, and can the jury instruction with the language of the statute be used during the 

evidence phase of trial? 

 Answer:  Yes, all of the doctors are aware of the language of the statute at issue. 

26. Page 12 of the rules states that no other instructions will be given to the jury. Does this 

mean that students cannot ask for a limiting instruction if evidence is admitted for a 

limited purpose? 

 Answer:  Participants may not ask for a limiting instruction. 

27. Are raising brief preliminary matters permitted, e.g. moving about the courtroom, 

questioning from the podium, approaching the witness, tendering as an expert, etc. but 

not including motions in limine or other legal motions?   

 Answer:  Yes, you may ask about housekeeping matters.  No motions in limine are 

permitted. 

28. How is the time scored for preliminary matters and JMOL? 

 Answer: Preliminary housekeeping matters may be taken care of with no time 

penalty.  For motions for JMOL, the full time counts against the side making the 

motion. 

29. Should Stipulation 9 refer to the Federal Rules of Evidence as opposed to the rules of 

Civil Procedure? 

 Answer:  Stipulation 9 should refer to both the Federal Rules of Evidence and the 

Rules of Civil Procedure.    

30. Dr. Condon testifies that he is 42 at his deposition, making his date of birth sometime in 

1975 (STAC 19:22).  However, according to his CV, he graduated from Steelton State in 

1983, and from medical school in 1987 (STAC 55).  Are the dates in the CV typos on the 

part of the packet writers? 

 Answer:  Dr. Condon’s age has been changed to 55 to reflect consistency with his 

CV. 



31. There is no jury instruction on comparative negligence.  Is this a purposeful omission? 

 Answer:  The comparative negligence jury instruction is as follows:  Defendant claims 

that Plaintiff was negligent and Plaintiff’s negligence was a factual cause of Plaintiff’s 

injury. Defendant has the burden of proving by a fair preponderance of the evidence 

that Plaintiff was negligent and that the Plaintiff's negligence was a factual cause of 

the plaintiff's harm.  Plaintiff does not have the burden to prove he was not 

negligent.  The burden is not on Plaintiff to prove his or her freedom from negligence. 

You must determine whether Defendant has proven that Plaintiff, under all the 

circumstances, failed to use reasonable care for his or her own protection.   

The fact pattern has been updated to reflect this change. 

32. On STAC 16, does the 0.0 BAC test mean 0.00? 

 Answer:  Yes. 

33. On STAC 43, in paragraph 5, is the phrase "stroke disorder" a typographical error which 

should actually read "seizure disorder"? 

 Answer:  Yes, the phrase should read “seizure disorder”. 

34. On STAC 29, Line 3, Bobby Daley’s deposition from May 20, 2017, Ms. Chia references 

the defendant’s deposition.  According to the problem the defendant’s deposition doesn't 

occur until June 7, 2017.  Are these dates correct? 

 Answer:  Dr. Condon’s deposition date has been updated.  

35. On STAC 33, Line 22 references 2016 as the date of the accident.  Shouldn't this date be 

2015? 

 Answer:  Yes.  The fact pattern has been updated to reflect this change. 

36. Are students able to use laptops while at counsel table during the trial for their own 

means of preparation? 

 Answer:  Participants may use technology while at the counsel table for their own 

preparation as long as such use does not violate any other rules, such as 

communication with a coach during a trial.  You cannot provide the device to 

another participant, such as a witness to read off of.  Please note that you may not 

unplug any electronics already present in the courtroom in order to plug in your 

device and some courthouses may not allow you to bring laptops or other devices 

into the courthouse.  Also, Wi-Fi connection is not guaranteed nor are students 

allowed to request Wi-Fi passwords from the regional coordinator.   

37. Are students able to use any technology while at counsel table during the trial for their 

own means of preparation? 

 Answer:  Participants may use technology while at the counsel table for their own 

preparation as long as such use does not violate any other rules, such as 



communication with a coach during a trial.  You cannot provide the device to 

another participant, such as a witness to read off of.  Please note that you may not 

unplug any electronics already present in the courtroom in order to plug in your 

device and some courthouses may not allow you to bring laptops or other devices 

into the courthouse.  Also, Wi-Fi connection is not guaranteed nor are students 

allowed to request Wi-Fi passwords from the regional coordinator.     

38. The rules state “no pretrial motions of any kind” are allowed.  Does this mean that there 

will be no opportunity to argue motions in limine at the beginning of the trial/round?   

 Answer:  No motions in limine are allowed to be argued at the beginning of the trial. 

39. Is the doctor-patient privilege waived or trumped by the statute? 

 Answer:  Doctor/patient privilege is waived by operation of law.  

40. May we use outside medical information about the diagnosis of seizures? 

 Answer:  No. 

41. Was Sam Shield wearing a seatbelt? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

42. Please give us an example of a “reasonable inference”—this issue comes up every year 

and this year’s standard is different from previous years’. 

 Answer:  As one example, Sam Shields testifies that he usually goes to his 

grandmother’s house on Sundays “to cut her grass and help her with some things 

that she could not do.” A reasonable inference is that those “some things” included 

things like putting in or taking out a window air conditioner, getting into the attic 

crawl space to get something stored up there, replacing ceiling lights, etc. 

43. Please define “aura” under the applicable law of Steelton. 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

44. Where is the stop sign that Daley allegedly ran?  Please reconcile discrepancy between 

diagram and Sam Shields’ report. 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

45. On STAC 29, Bobby states that Dr. Condon “mentioned it after the accident.”  Does he 

mean the June 2015 attack or the September 2016 car accident?   

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

46. The rules say that the case will be tried on liability only. However, on STAC 90, under 

burden of proof, it says “In this case, the Plaintiff has the burden of proving the following 

claims: (c) ...The extent of damages caused by the Defendant’s negligence. Does that 

mean Plaintiff can present evidence of the extent of damages or if not, that the jurors will 



be told even though the jury instructions say Plaintiff must prove it, Plaintiff is not 

permitted to do so? 

 Answer:  Part (c) has been removed from the instruction.  Please refer to the fact 

pattern for the updated instruction. 

47. On STAC 41, is Lepsey’s (Leonard’s) expert opinion meant to state that “Dr. Condon 

consistently reports in the medical records . . .” instead of “Bobby consistently reports in 

the medical records . . .”? 

 Answer:  Yes.  The fact pattern has been updated to reflect this change. 

48. Is it stipulated that Bobby is at fault for the crash? If not, is the fault showing he was at 

least 51% at fault. 

 Answer:  Please refer to the jury instructions for guidance.  

49. Is the date on the police report intentionally left blank? 

 Answer:  The police report was made the day of the accident.  

50. Do we need to assert all of the affirmative defenses listed on STAC 7?  Based on the jury 

instructions, if the defendant’s negligent conduct was one of the factual causes of the 

harm, then the defendant is fully responsible for harm suffered regardless of the extent to 

which defendant's conduct contributed to the harm. As a result, would affirmative 

defenses two and three, which appear to address contributory negligence, be applicable in 

this case? Or might the defendant be claiming in Affirmative Defense 2 that the plaintiff 

was solely responsible? 

 Answer:  It is up to the advocates to determine how to defend the case.  

51. The Concurring Causes jury instruction appears to negate the affirmative defense of 

superseding cause.  Is there no affirmative defense instruction in this case? 

 Answer: No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

52. 75 Steelton Statutes 5.87 states that “[e]very provider who treats a person who has 

experienced a single seizure shall provide a report to the Department of Transportation . . 

.” Shall we interpret this to mean that, under the statute, we need not show that Dr. 

Condon knew or should have known about the seizures, only that (1) Dr. Condon treated 

Dailey; (2) Dailey suffered a seizure prior to the accident; and (3) Doctor Condon did not 

report this to the Department of Transportation? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question.   

53. May we research medical terminology and assume that definitions out of medical 

textbooks/journals are “reasonable inferences”? 

 Answer:  No outside definitions may be used at trial. 



54. On STAC 20, line 4, when Dr. Condon states he was “seeing” a patient, does he mean 

dating or treating? 

 Answer:  Dr. Condon’s reference to “seeing” means treating a patient. 

55. Bobby Daley’s deposition testimony can only be brought in through both the expert 

doctors on both sides, but not Sam Shields or Dr. Condon, correct? 

 Answer:  Yes, this testimony cannot be brought in by witnesses other than the 

experts. 

56. The diagram of the accident and the Driver’s Accident Report show different initial 

impact points (STAC 47-48); is this an intentional mistake? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

57. On STAC 15, there is a reference to Sam Shields getting a ticket for running a stop sign.  

Did Sam Shields receive the traffic citation for running the stop sign before or after they 

consumed two beers at family dinner?   

 Answer:  Sam Shields received the traffic citation after they consumed two beers at 

the family dinner.  

58. On STAC 11 (Joint Exhibit List), numeral 6 mentions “photographs” of the accident 

location; however, there is only one photo of the accident location.  Is this a typo?  

 Answer:  Yes.  The fact pattern has been updated to reflect this change. 

59. Did Bobby Daley transport themself to and from treatment? 

 Answer:  Yes, Bobby Daley transported themselves to and from treatment. 

60. What were causes of the Clara DePaul and the Max Petrunya accidents?  Is there a 

specific reason for Clara DePaul getting her license revoked?  What is the reason or 

condition under SDOT for license revocation? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

61. On STAC 16, line 14, the plaintiff says the accident occurred two blocks from home in 

his deposition, but the Complaint and Exhibit A show that the accident occurred on 

Kessel Road where the plaintiff resides. Where did the accident occur? 

 Answer:  The accident occurred on Kessel Road, further down the road from the 

plaintiff’s home. 

62. Bobby Daley’s birthday is listed as 11/22/95 in his medical records and 1/8/97 in the 

accident report.  Which is correct?  

 Answer:  Bobby Daley’s birthday is 1/8/97. 



63. Sam Shields says he is 27 in his deposition but his birthday is listed as 6/7/1992 in the 

accident report.  Which is correct? 

 Answer:  Sam Shields was born on 6/7/1989 and was 27 years old at the time of the 

deposition. 

64. How many hours did Eppi Leonard and Bran Hertz spend on their expert reports? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

65. Did D prescribe Gabapentin or thought about prescribing it? Eppi Leonard said he 

prescribed, but D’s depo says he considered prescribing. Is this wording intentional? 

 Answer:  Dr. Condon prescribed Gabapentin as noted on STAC 53. 

66. Exhibit A (p. 46), states “Vehicle Code, Section 3747 states: All reports are confidential, 

not available as trial evidence.”  Are the teams bound to this statement or can we attempt 

to enter the exhibit? 

 Answer:  The statement has been removed.  

67. Did Dr. Condon tell him that the Gabapentin was for seizures or not?  There are 

conflicting statements about this on STAC 29 and 30 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

68. Were there cars on the side of Kessel road near the accident?  Sam Shields says in their 

deposition that they were not able to pull over, because there were other cars in the road, 

but there were not any other cars drawn by the police in their report. 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

69. What is the burden of proof for Defendant's affirmative defenses? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

70. At last year’s coaches meeting, it was decided that experts would not need to be qualified 

as such during the trial.  Is that rule still applicable? 

 Answer:  This can be decided at the coaches meeting if all coaches agree, however, 

we have provided enough information to qualify experts during trial.   

71. Are we able to impeach the medical expert based on Exhibit E? 

 Answer:  Yes, all exhibits are available to be used for impeachment purposes. 

72. Are we able to call Dr. Condon as an expert witness? 

 Answer:   No, participants are not able to call Dr. Condon as an expert witness. 



73. The packet says “the use of videotape permits you to see and hear the witness as he 

appeared and testified under questioning by counsel” does this mean we can make a 

videotape of that deposition to present to the jury? 

 Answer:  No, you may not make a videotape of the deposition.  Testimony for an 

absent witness may be read by an advocate on the witness stand from the deposition 

transcript.   

74. Does the 80 minute time limit for argument include openings and closings considering 

that isn’t counted as argument? 

 Answer:  Yes, the 80-minute time limit includes openings and closings. 

75. On page 26, Line 9, Condon says that he or she puts a “line through an entry that needs to 

be changed or add new material that needs to be added. I will then add my initials to the 

modified entry.” Yet none of the Condon’s “Progress Notes” have any lines through them 

or initials. However, on pages 51, 52 and 53, there is a recommendation that Bobby 

refrain from driving, which Condon never mentions in his or her statement, and which is 

written in larger print and in a different font. Were these comments intended to indicate 

that they were added later? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

76. The Complaint states that the plaintiff lost their great toe; is this the big toe?  If so, which 

foot is being described? 

 Answer:  Yes, the great toe is plaintiff’s big toe.  No further information will be 

provided regarding the plaintiff’s injuries. 

77. Condon is not neurologist, he is an internist, correct?  Does Dr. Condon have any training 

dealing with mood and psychological issues?  He states that he commonly prescribes 

medicine for mood problems, but seems to only have training in neuroscience 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

78. Did the defendant ever report Bobby Daley to the Steelton DOT? 

 Answer:  The defendant states that he or she never reported Bobby Daley to SDOT 

on STAC 25-26. 

79. Which witnesses have personal knowledge of the drug fact sheet? 

 Answer:  Sam Shields is the only witness who does not have personal knowledge of 

the drug fact sheet? 

80. Ex A impact point-on Bobby Daley vehicle diagram or 1 v 2 o’clock is correct? 

 Answer:  Exhibit A states that the initial impact point on Vehicle 1 was 1 to 2 

o’clock and the initial impact point on Vehicle 2 was 10 to 12 o’clock.   



81. In the deposition of Dr. Condon, Chia (Plaintiff’s lawyer) says that there are several 

instances in the medical reports where Bobby says he lost time “for two or three 

minutes.”  However, there is no reference in the medical reports to any amount of time.  

Should that information be in the medical reports?  Should we assume there are other 

medical reports of Bobby's visit to Dr. Condon that we don't have? 

 Answer:  No further information will be provided regarding this question. 

82. There are several prescription drugs that Bobby takes according to his medical records.  

Most of them are only mentioned by name, with no information anywhere in the packet 

re: what they are used for.  Is the information about what a drug is used for considered a 

fact outside the scope of the packet (and thus off limits), or is it fair game since the drug 

is mentioned in the packet?    

 Answer:  No outside research may be conducted.  
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Information regarding the 2018 Student Trial Advocacy Competition is available at 

www.justice.org/STAC and will be updated frequently. 
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         Kara Yoh 

American Association for Justice 
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Washington, DC 20001 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

One of AAJ’s goals is to inspire excellence in trial advocacy through training and 

education for both law students and practicing attorneys.  One way AAJ accomplishes this  

goal  is  by  sponsoring  a  national  student  mock  trial  competition.  This is an 

exceptional opportunity for law students to develop and practice their trial advocacy skills 

before distinguished members of the bar and bench. 

Because the purpose of this competition is to give law students the opportunity to develop 

their  trial  skills,  the  actual  merits  of  the  plaintiff’s  case  and  the  defendant’s  case 

presented are irrelevant to this purpose.  Competition rounds are decided not on the merits 

of a team’s side but on the quality of a team’s advocacy. 

Requests for Clarification 

Requests for clarifications of the rules or fact pattern must be submitted via an online 

survey no later than 5:30 p.m. (EST) on January 8, 2018.  A link to the survey will be

posted online at www.justice.org/STAC after the fact pattern is released. Each school is 

limited to five (5) questions. No school, regardless of the number of teams it has in the 

competition, may submit more than five questions.  Each subpart of a question is counted 

as a question. 

RULE VIOLATION AND FILING OF COMPLAINTS 

A competitor or coach violating any of the rules governing the national Student Trial 

Advocacy Competition may be penalized or disqualified.  If a team wants to file a 

complaint under the rules, the team’s coach should immediately notify the regional 

coordinator at a regional competition or the final round coordinator at the final 

competition.  The coordinator will review the complaint and make a ruling, which shall be 

binding for that round of competition.  The coordinator’s rulings will be governed by the 

rules of the competition and the objectives of the program. 

Complaints after a regional competition or after the national competition must be filed in 

writing with Kara Yoh at the address on page 2 no later than the seven (7) days following 

the last day of the regional or final round, as appropriate.  The AAJ Law Student Services 

Committee will promptly consider and rule on any such complaints. 

LAW SCHOOL AND STUDENT ELIGIBILITY 

The competition is open to all law schools nationwide.  A law school may enter up to two 

teams.  Each team shall be comprised of four law students.  A school’s selection method 

of its trial team(s) is left for the school to determine.  However, for a student to be 

eligible, he or she must be enrolled for a J.D. degree and be a law student member of AAJ.  
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Students who graduate in December 2017 are eligible to participate only if the competition 

counts toward their credits for graduation and they will not be admitted to practice prior to 

March 2018. 

Each student participant must be an AAJ student member by February 2, 2018 in order to 

participate. 

REGISTRATION PROCEDURES 

Refund Policy 

Requests for a refund of a school’s registration fee were due in writing before November 

13, 2016. It is inevitable that a few teams drop out of the competition in the months 

leading up to the regionals.  Teams placed on the waiting list because the competition is 

full will be contacted for participation in the order that their registrations were received. 

Teams on the waiting list will also be issued a refund check if it is determined that the 

team will not be competing.  Schools that registered two teams but are only able to enter 

one team because the competition is full will receive a refund of the registration fee for 

the second team. 

AAJ Law Student Membership and Student Team Registration 

Student  team  members  must  be  AAJ  members  by  February 2,  2018  in  order  to 
participate. This year, all students must verify their membership and register for their 
respective team online at www.justice.org/STACParticipantRegistration.  AAJ Law 
Student membership dues are $15.  If you have any questions about AAJ’s law student 
membership, or if you have any trouble becoming a member online, please call AAJ’s 
member hotline at (202) 965-3500, ext. 8611.  If you have any questions about registering 
as a STAC team member, please call Kara Yoh, STAC Manager, ext. 3502. 

Coach Registration 

AAJ must receive the names of the coach for each team. A coach must accompany each 

team to the regional competitions.  A coach may be a law student, but may not be a 

student who is competing in the competition. Coaches do not need to be members of AAJ, 

and should not register for the STAC event.  Coaches, and other administrators traveling 

with the team, must complete an online survey listing the team coach that will be 

travelling with the team by February 3, 2017.  This is the information that will be sent to 

the regional coordinators to communicate logistics onsite.  

Student Substitution Policy 

Substitution of team members after February 2, 2018 is not permitted except in the case of 

personal emergencies.  Requests for substitution after the February 2 deadline must be 

made in writing with an explanation of why the substitution is needed and sent to Kara 

Yoh at AAJ for consideration. These requests can be made to STAC@justice.org. 
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REGIONAL AND FINAL COMPETITION ASSIGNMENTS 

Entering teams will be assigned to one of 14 regional competitions based on geographical 

convenience to the extent possible.  Teams from the same law school will be assigned to 

the same region.  If a school’s second team is waitlisted, there is no guarantee that second 

team will be sent to the same region as the first team.  Teams will be notified of any date 

changes when regional assignments are made.  Please remember that a school’s second 

team will not be officially registered until one team from each law school has entered the 

mock trial competition.  Then the second teams will be registered on a first-come, first-

served basis until all the team slots are filled.  If you paid for two teams and only one 

team is able to participate, you will receive a refund for the second team. 

In order to officially compete in the competition, a team must receive its regional 

assignment.  If a team is not informed by AAJ that it is able to compete, that team is not 

registered for the competition. 

Coaches 

A coach must accompany each team to the regional and the final competitions.  The coach 

for a team that goes to the final competition does not have to be the person who coached 

the team at the regional competition. 

A coach may be a law student, but may not be a student who is competing in the 

competition. 

Only team coaches are permitted to attend the coaches’ meeting.  If a coach is unable to 

attend, he or she must notify AAJ and the regional coordinator.  Only then can students be 

permitted to attend in the coach’s absence. 

Team Expenses 

Travel expenses for the regional and final competitions are the responsibility of the 

participants.  Teams competing in past competitions have obtained funds from law school 

deans and alumni associations, members of the local legal community, state and local trial 

associations, and AAJ law school chapters. 

COMPETITION FORMAT 

This is a trial skills competition.  There is no motion or trial brief writing component. 

Each team will consist of four law students.  Two students will be advocates and two 

students will play the witnesses for their side in each round.  Advocates and witnesses 

may change their roles from round to round, but roles must remain consistent throughout 

each individual trial. 
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In the regional competitions: 

• Each team will compete in three qualifying rounds

• The top four teams from the qualifying rounds will advance to a single elimination

semifinal round

• The top two teams from the semifinal round will advance to a single elimination final

round to determine which one team will advance to the National Final Competition

In the final competition: 

• Each team will compete in three qualifying rounds

• The top eight teams from the qualifying rounds will advance to a single elimination

quarter-final round

• The top four teams from the quarter-final round will advance to a single elimination

semifinal round

• The top two teams from the semifinal round will advance to a single elimination final

round

Regional Team Pairings in Qualifying Rounds 

Pairing of teams in the qualifying rounds will be at random and conducted during the 

coaches’ meeting prior to each competition.  Teams may also be pre-assigned by the 

regional coordinator prior to the coaches’ meeting; this practice is at the discretion of the 

regional coordinator.  Each team will represent both plaintiff and defendant in the first 

two rounds.  No two teams shall compete against each other more than once in the 

qualifying rounds.  Teams from the same school will not compete against each other 

during any of the rounds of the regional competition or in the qualifying rounds of the 

national final competitions.  

Team Rankings in All Other Rounds 

In the semifinal round, the first-ranked team will meet the fourth-ranked team, and the 

second-ranked team will meet the third-ranked team. 

Regional semifinal round (Normal pairings:  1 v. 4; 2 v. 3) 

Situation 1: Teams ranked 1 and 4 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 3; 2 v. 4 

Situation 2: Teams ranked 2 and 3 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 3; 2 v. 4 

The ranking of teams to determine the semifinalists and finalists will be determined by 

the following factors (in this order): 

1. Win/loss record

2. Number of winning votes

3. Number of total points awarded to the team

7



Each succeeding criterion above will be used only if the prior criterion does not fully rank 

the teams, and will be used only to break ties created by the use of the prior criterion.  In 

the event that all three of these criterion are tied, the regional coordinator will announce a 

tie-breaker.  

If paired regional semifinal teams have met in the qualifying rounds, they will each 

represent different sides than in the previous meeting.  If they have not yet met, each team 

will take the side they represented only once in qualifying rounds.  If matched teams 

represented the same side only once, the winner of a coin toss will choose sides. 

In the regional finals, the teams will represent a different side than in the semifinal round. 

If two opposing teams each represented the same side in the semifinal round, the winner 

of a coin toss will choose sides.  The two regional finals teams will represent a different 

side than in the semifinal round.  If matched teams in the final round represented the same 

side in the semifinal round, the winner of a coin toss will choose sides. 

When an odd number of teams compete at a regional competition, one randomly chosen 

team will receive a “bye” in each qualifying round.  For ranking purposes, a bye will 

count as a win and the team with the bye will be deemed to have had three votes and the 

points equal to the average of the team’s points from the two other qualifying rounds. 

NATIONAL FINALS 

Quarter-final round (Normal pairings:  1 v. 8; 2 v. 7; 3 v. 6;  4 v. 5) 

Situation 1:           Teams ranked 1 and 8 are from the same school 

New pairings:       1 v. 7;  2 v. 8;  3 v. 6;  4 v. 5 

Situation 2: Teams ranked 2 and 7 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 7;  2 v. 8;  3 v. 6;  4 v. 5 

Situation 3: Teams ranked 3 and 6 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 8;  2 v. 7;  3 v. 5;  4 v. 6 

Situation 4: Teams ranked 4 and 5 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 8;  2 v. 7;  3 v. 5;  4 v. 6 

 Semifinal round (Normal pairings:  1 v. 4; 2 v. 3) 

Situation 1: Teams ranked 1 and 4 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 3; 2 v. 4 

Situation 2: Teams ranked 2 and 3 are from the same school 

New pairings: 1 v. 3; 2 v. 4 

If teams from the same school are matched to compete based on rank in the semifinal and 

final rounds of a regional competition, regional hosts will re-pair teams according to the 

following scenarios: 
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Determination of Team Representation 

If the four national and regional semifinal teams have already met in the qualifying 

rounds, they will represent different sides from the previous confrontation.  If they have 

not yet met, each team will take the side they represented only once in qualifying rounds. 

If matched teams represented the same side only once, the winner of a coin toss will 

choose sides. 

The national finals semifinal teams will represent a different side than in the quarter-final 

round.  If matched teams represented the same side in the quarter-final round, the winner 

of a coin toss will choose sides.  The two national final teams will represent a different 

side than in the semifinal round.  If matched teams represented the same side in the 

semifinal round, the winner of a coin toss will choose sides. 

THE TRIAL 

The competition this year involves the trial of a civil lawsuit.  The same fact pattern will 

be used in the regional and final competitions.  The trial judge previously ruled that the 

case would be bifurcated, and the case being tried in the competition is the first phase of 

the case—the liability phase.  Only evidence relevant to the liability issue will be 

received.  There are no pending third-party claims. 

The Federal Rules of Evidence (FRE) and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (FRCP) are 

the applicable rules of evidence and civil procedure.  Only these rules, and the law 

provided in the fact pattern, shall be used in argument.  Specifically, no statutory, 

regulatory, or case law shall be cited unless such law is provided in the fact pattern. 

Students may argue based upon the comments or advisory notes to the Federal Rules of 

Evidence but may not cite the cases contained therein.  No written briefs or motions, trial 

notebooks, or other written materials may be presented to the judge hearing a case. 

No pretrial motions of any kind are allowed. 

Motions for a judgment as a matter of law and evidentiary objections are permitted. 

The trial will consist of the following phases by each team in this order: 

• Opening statements for plaintiff followed by defendant

• Plaintiff’s case-in-chief

• Plaintiff’s direct of plaintiff’s witness #1

• Defendant’s cross of witness

• Plaintiff’s redirect of witness

• Similar for plaintiff’s witness #2

• Defendant’s case-in-chief

• Defendant’s direct of defendant’s witness #1

• Plaintiff’s cross of witness
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• Plaintiff’s redirect of witness

• Similar for defendant’s witness #2

• Closing argument

• Plaintiff’s closing

• Defendant’s closing

• Plaintiff’s rebuttal closing

Each side is limited to two live witnesses whom they may call in any order. 

• Plaintiff must call Bobby Daley and Bryce Summerstein.

• Defendant must call Tracey “Scooter” Simon and Quinn Noonan.

The trial has six (6) major advocacy opportunities for each team:  opening statement; 

direct/redirect examinations (2); cross-examinations (2); and closing argument.  Each 

member of a team must handle three of the six opportunities.  Opening statement and 

closing argument may not be done by the same person, and may not be split between team 

members.  Each team member must do a direct and cross.   

During the competition, each team will represent both parties.  Pairing in the qualifying 

rounds will be at random, with each team representing both plaintiff and defendant at least 

once in the three rounds. 

Except in the final round, the courtrooms will be off-limits to all team members, coaches, 

friends, and family members who are not associated with either team competing, unless 

their team has already been eliminated from the competition. 

No team may receive any coaching from anyone in any form during a round, including any 

recesses or breaks.  The regional or national coordinator, as applicable, has the authority  to  

punish  any  violation  of  this  rule  by  disqualifying  the  team  from  the remainder of the 

competition. 

A team may record its trial if:  (1) no additional lighting is required; (2) recording of the 

trial does not interfere with or delay its conduct; and, (3) all participants of the round, 

including the presiding and scoring judges and the regional or national coordinator, as 

applicable, agree.  All recordings are subject to the local courthouse policy and discretion. 

Timing of the Trial 

 Each team will have 80 minutes to complete its argument; time will be stopped during

objections.

 The time limit will be strictly enforced, although it is not necessary that all time

allotted be used.

 There will be no time limits for specific aspects of the trial.

 Time on cross-examination is charged against the team conducting the cross-

examination.

 Time will be stopped for objections and responses to objections.

 Performance at trial will be evaluated by a panel of judges and/or attorneys, one of

whom will preside over the trial as Judge, making rulings as necessary, and the

remainder (up to three) of whom will act as the jury.
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Facts Outside the Record    

Advocates must confine the questions, and witnesses must confine their answers, to the 

facts given in the fact pattern and inferences which may reasonably be drawn therefrom, 

with the following qualifications: 

(1) A reasonable inference is not any fact that a party might wish to be true;

rather, it is a fact that is likely to be true, given all the facts in the case; and

(2) No inferred fact may be material, which is defined (a) as a fact that

changes the merits of either side of the case or (b) that bears on the

credibility of any witness or litigant. The latter is defined to include any

background information about a witness or litigant.

Except during closing argument, no party may make an objection that the opposing team is 

going outside the record.  Instead, a party may address instances of testimony outside the 

record by means of impeachment of the offending witness or by contradiction using another 

witness or document. 

When true and if asked, witnesses must admit that the “facts” they have testified to are not 

in their deposition or otherwise in the record: “yes, I did not say that in my 

deposition.”  Witnesses may not qualify this response; for example, a witness may not say 

he or she was not asked about the issue at deposition or that the facts were contained in 

some portion of the deposition omitted from the record.   

Like all officers of the court, coaches and team members must play fairly and 

ethically.  This is a competition about trial advocacy skills—doing what you can with the 

facts provided and the witnesses in the courtroom.  The coordinators will instruct the judges 

on the significance of impeachment efforts and that they may take unfair additions or 

changes to the record into account in their scoring of the witness’s team.   

Witnesses 

Any witness may be played by a person of either gender.  Before the opening statement, each 

team should notify the other team of the gender of each witness they intend to call and any 

witness they could call but are choosing not to call. 

Expert witnesses are assumed to have access to and have read all documents in the fact 

pattern. A lay witness can only attest to his or her deposition and related exhibits.  

All depositions are signed and sworn. The same attorney conducting direct examination of a 

witness shall also conduct any redirect examination. 

The only lawyer who may object during witness testimony is the lawyer who will be 

examining that witness. 

Witnesses may not be recalled.  Witnesses will not be sequestered. 
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JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

The instructions provided in the fact pattern are the only instructions that will be given. The 

instructions are the only statements of the applicable substantive law.  Instructions will not be 

eliminated or modified.  No additional instructions may be tendered or will be given. 

EXHIBITS 

The use of demonstrative evidence is limited to that which is provided in the fact pattern, but 

participants are free to enlarge any diagram, statement, exhibit, or portion of the fact pattern if 

it is identical to the item enlarged, or if any changes provide no advantage to the party 

intending to use it. 

Subject to rulings of the court, counsel and witnesses may draw or make simple charts or 

drawings in court for the purpose of illustrating testimony or argument.  These materials may 

not be written or drawn in advance of the segment during which they are being used. 

No demonstrative evidence, including charts or drawings, may reflect facts outside the record.  

Participants must clear all demonstrative evidence with the regional or national coordinator, 

as applicable, at the coaches’ meeting preceding the competition. 

All exhibits are stipulated as authentic and genuine for purposes of trial. 

SCORING CRITERIA 

Performances at trial will be evaluated by a panel of three judges and/or attorneys, one of 

whom will preside as the trial judge, with the others sitting as jurors.  The trial judge will rule 

on any objections or motions for judgment as a matter of law. 

Each member of the jury may award up to ten points in each phase of trial for each party. A 

sample score sheet is attached. 

If at the end of the trial, an evaluator awards the same number of points to both the plaintiff 

and the defendant, the evaluator will award one additional point to either the plaintiff or the 

defendant for effectiveness of objections and/or overall case presentation in order to break the 

tie. 

Evaluators have been instructed not to score teams on the merits of the case. 

The following criteria for scoring trial performances are set forth to assist both judges and 

student advocates.  Evaluators are not limited to these criteria and may consider other aspects 

of strategy, technique, and so forth, which they view as important. 

Evaluator Shortage 

For each match, there must be three votes from evaluators.  In the event that, due to 

circumstances beyond AAJ’s control, there are not three evaluators in a particular match, 

“ghost” evaluator(s) will be used to score the round.  The vote of a ghost evaluator is 

determined by calculating the average of all other evaluators in the session.   
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Suggested Evaluation Criteria 

OPENING STATEMENT 

Did Counsel: 

1. Generally confine statement to an outline of the evidence that would be presented?

2. Clearly present counsel’s theory of the case?

3. Persuasively present counsel’s theory of the case?

4. Personalize self and client?

5. Allow opposing attorney to make argument during opening statement?

6. Make unnecessary objections?

EXAMINATION OF WITNESSES 

Did Counsel: 

1. Ask questions that generated minimal valid objections?

2. Make/fail to make objections with tactical or substantial merit?

3. Respond appropriately to objections?

4. Know the rules of evidence and express that knowledge clearly?

5. Develop rapport with the witness?

6. Maintain appropriate general attitude and demeanor?

7. Address the court and others appropriately?

8. Demonstrate awareness of ethical considerations?

Did Direct-Examiner: 

9. Use leading questions unnecessarily?

10. Develop testimony in an interesting and coherent fashion?

11. Follow up on witness’ answers?

12. Present the witness in the most favorable light?

Did Cross-Examiner: 

13. Appropriately use leading questions?

14. Control witness?

15. Follow up on answers and elicit helpful testimony?

16. Use impeachment opportunities?

CLOSING ARGUMENT 

Did Counsel: 

1. Present a cohesive theory of the case, pulling all the positive arguments together?

2. Deal effectively with the weakness(es) in his or her own case?

3. Make an argument that was persuasive?

4. Have an effective style of presentation?

5. Utilize the law effectively in the argument?

6. Inappropriately interrupt the argument of the opposing counsel?

7. Properly confine rebuttal to rebuttal matters?

8. Effectively counter the opponent’s speech in rebuttal

Discrepancies in Remaining Match Time 

Often, bailiffs are unavailable to keep time for rounds.  In such cases, one or more judges in 

each match should be instructed to keep time according to the timekeeping rules. 
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Additionally, judges may ask the respective teams to assist with this process.  Teams may also 

keep track of time used for their own purposes.  They may not, however, report their time 

used or that of an opposing team to the bailiff or judge for any purpose, unless they were 

instructed to do so. Moreover, time use improperly reported by any team may not be 

considered or used by a bailiff or judge for any purpose.   

Notwithstanding this limitation, in the event that the match judge or judges declare the time 

remaining as less than the team requires for closing or other parts of the trial, the coach or 

team member (whoever records the time discrepancy1) should immediately consult with the 

Regional Coordinator during the break, who should then evaluate the circumstances and 

decide the amount of time remaining.  Neither the team coach nor the team member should 

discuss the discrepancy with the match judge. Should the team be unable to consult with the 

Regional Coordinator before completion of the trial and the team requires additional time to 

complete the trial, the team may elect to complete the trial beyond the time allotted.  When 

the trial is complete, the time will be evaluated by the Regional Coordinator.  The team will 

lose two points from the number of total overall points for that round (as tallied on the ‘Trial 

Score Sheet’) for every five minutes—or fraction thereof—of time in excess of its allotment. 

Viewing of Score Sheets by Teams 

Viewing of the score sheets is done at the discretion of the Regional Coordinator.  Each team 

will have the right to view their score sheets for each round.  Team coaches may only view 

score sheets once the third round has commenced.  This should be done one team at a time.  

Participating students should be unaware of how they were scored until the qualifying rounds 

are completed, and the semi-final teams are announced. Teams are not allowed to take score 

sheets with them or make any markings to the score sheets.  Teams may view score sheets 

only in the presence of the Regional Coordinator.  If team coaches require a copy of their 

score sheets, they should notify the Regional Coordinator and email AAJ staff.  

1 Note that coaches and team members may not communicate during rounds 
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2018 STUDENT TRIAL ADVOCACY COMPETITION (STAC)

JUDGE'S SCORE SHEET 

Teams are to be scored on their trial skills only, NOT on the merits of the case. 

Do not give half-points. Do not tie teams. There must be a winner. 

Do not write your name on this score sheet, and do not share your 
score with the participating students or coaches.  

ROUND: 

REGIONAL LOCATION: 

TEAM -- PLAINTIFF 

Good Average Poor 

Opening Statement 
10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Direct Exam of 

Plaintiff's Lay Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Direct Exam of 

Plaintiff's Expert Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Cross Exam of 

Defendant's Lay Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Cross Exam of 

Defendant's Expert Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Summation 
10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Total points awarded to PLAINTIFF  

TEAM -- DEFENDANT Good Average      Poor 

Opening Statement 
10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Cross Exam of 

Plaintiff's Lay Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Cross Exam of 

Plaintiff's Expert Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Direct Exam of 

Defendant's Lay Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Direct Exam of 

Defendant's Expert Witness 

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Summation 
10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

Total points awarded to DEFENDANT 



AMERICAN ASSOCIATION FOR JUSTICE 

MISSION 

The Mission of the American Association for Justice is to promote a fair and effective justice 

system—and to support the work of attorneys in their efforts to ensure that any person who 

is injured by the misconduct or negligence of others can obtain justice in America’s 

courtrooms, even when taking on the most powerful interests. 

ABOUT TRIAL LAWYERS 

Trial lawyers ensure access to the civil justice system for the powerless in America:  

working families, individual workers, and consumers who often lack the resources to take 

their grievances to court. 

Trial lawyers play a valuable role in protecting the rights of American families.  They 

champion the cause of those who deserve redress for injury to person or property; they 

promote the public good through their efforts to secure safer products, a safe workplace, a 

clean environment and quality health care; they uphold the rule of law and protect the rights 

of the accused; and they preserve the constitutional right to trial by jury and seek justice for 

all. 

Some of the types of cases our attorneys handle include: 

• A child paralyzed after being struck by a drunk driver;

• A young woman unable to have children because of a medical mistake;

• A person denied a promotion due to racial discrimination;

• An elderly man injured in a nursing home; and,

• A community whose water was made toxic by a local manufacturer.

ABOUT AAJ 

As one of the world’s largest trial bars, AAJ promotes justice and fairness for injured 

persons, safeguards victims’ rights—particularly the right to trial by jury—and strengthens 

the civil justice system through education and disclosure of information critical to public 

health and safety.  With members worldwide, and a network of U.S. and Canadian affiliates 

involved in diverse areas of trial advocacy, AAJ provides lawyers with the information and 

professional assistance needed to serve clients successfully and protect the democratic 

values inherent in the civil justice system.  



Six Benefits 
to American Association for Justice Law Student 
Membership You Can Put to Work Today!

1.
Network with America’s 
premier trial lawyers  
through AAJ’s Membership 
Directory.

4.
AAJ Annual and Winter 
Conventions allow you to attend 
information-packed workshops 
and Continuing Legal Education 
(CLE)–approved education 
sessions on all aspects of trial 
law from those at the top of 
their field. You will have the 
opportunity to attend social 
events and meet attorneys in 
all stages of their professional 
careers. Visit www.justice.org/
convention to learn more. 

2.
Trial magazine’s digital 
version gives you the latest 
developments in civil 
litigation, current tort and 
consumer law verdicts, and 
other career-enhancing 
information.

5.
Attend select AAJ 
Continuing Legal Education 
courses for only the price 
of the reference materials. 
AAJ Education seminars and 
teleseminars will give you 
insight into different practice 
areas, how to be an effective 
advocate, and prepare you 
for life after law school.      

3.
AAJ’s annual Student Trial 
Advocacy Competition  
(STAC) gives you the 
opportunity to participate  
in the nation’s premier 
mock trial before sitting 
judges and practicing trial 
lawyers.

6.
AAJ Law Student Member 
scholarships and awards 
help you pay down student 
loans. Start laying the 
groundwork today for the 
successful career you look 
forward to tomorrow. Visit 
www.justice.org/lawstudents 
for information on law 
school scholarships and 
networking opportunities.

For just $15 a year, you can invest in an American Association for Justice, formerly the Association of  
Trial Lawyers of America (ATLA®), Law Student Membership. That’s a small price to pay for the kind of  
trial lawyer contacts, educational opportunities, and access to information you’ll enjoy as a member of 
the world’s largest trial lawyer bar.

STUDENT TRIAL
ADVOCACY
COMPETITION

777 6th Street NW, Suite 200, Washington, DC 20001 • www.justice.org
800-424-2727 or 202-965-3500, ext. 8611



The Richard D. Hailey Law Student Scholarship
AAJ’s Minority Caucus awards $5,000 scholarships to first-, second-, and third-year African 
American, Hispanic, Asian American, Native American, and Biracial Law Student Members. 

Trial Advocacy Scholarship

Open to all second- and third-year AAJ Law Student Members, this $3,000 scholarship is awarded 
to the applicant who best demonstrates the following: commitment to AAJ and its mission; a 
desire to represent victims; interest and skill in trial advocacy; and financial need. 

Leesfield Scholarship

Sponsored by AAJ and AAJ member Ira Leesfield, this scholarship awards $2,500 to a Law Student 
Member to subsidize attendance at AAJ’s Annual Convention. Available to first- and second-year 
AAJ Law Student Members. 

Mike Eidson Scholarship

The Mike Eidson Scholarship Fund was established by the AAJ Women for Justice Education Fund 
in 2008, in honor of AAJ Past President Mike Eidson, whose vision and generosity inspired it. The 
Scholarship awards $5,000 annually to a female student entering their third year of law school 
(the student can be enrolled in a three-year day program or four-year night program) who has 
demonstrated a commitment to a career as a trial lawyer, along with dedication to upholding and 
defending the principles of the Constitution, and to the concept of a fair trial, the adversary system, 
and a just result for the injured, the accused, and those whose rights are jeopardized.

Visit www.justice.org/lawstudents for more information on law school scholarships.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

SAM SHIELDS; 

Plaintiff, GD No.: 16-008771 

v. 

CHRIS CONDON, MD; 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

AND NOW, comes Plaintiff, Sam Shields, and files the within Complaint, the 

following of which is a statement: 

I. PARTIES

1. Plaintiff, Sam Shields, is an adult individual residing at 269 Kessel Road,

Steelton, in the District of Steelton.  

2. Defendant, Chris Condon, MD, is a medical doctor licensed by the District

of Steelton Board of Medicine, with a business address of Suite 81, Fleury Building, 269 

Chase Street, Penns Woods, in the District of Steelton.  

II. FACTS

3. On September 4, 2016, Plaintiff was severely injured as a result of a motor

vehicle accident in which Plaintiff’s vehicle was struck by a vehicle driven by Bobby 

Daley. 

4. Bobby Daley lost control of his vehicle after suffering a seizure while

driving on Kessel Road. 
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5. As a result of this collision, Plaintiff suffered a broken tibia, broken

humerus, multiple fractured vertebrae, a subdural hematoma, and loss of Plaintiff’s great 

toe. 

6. On June 6, 2015, Bobby Daley was involved in a well-publicized civil

assault case in which he sustained, inter alia, massive head trauma at the hands of an 

assailant. 

7. Specifically, as a result of this attack, Bobby Daley suffered a subdural

hematoma, a fractured orbital socket, and a compound fracture of the humerus 

8. Bobby Daley treated with Defendant for injuries sustained in that beating.

9. Despite being aware of Bobby Daley’s significant medical condition,

Defendant failed to take steps to report Bobby Daley’s medical condition to the District of 

Steelton Department of Motor Vehicles. 

10. For the reasons described herein, Defendant is liable to Plaintiff for the harm

and injuries sustained by Plaintiff on September 4, 2016. 

COUNT I 
Negligence 

11. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all previous Paragraphs of the Complaint

as if set forth in their entirety herein. 

12. Defendant knew, or should have known, that the injuries sustained by

Bobby Daley would have prevented Bobby Daley from safely operating a motor vehicle. 

13. To help keep the District of Steelton’s roadways safe, it is the law in the

District of Steelton that any health care provider authorized to treat and diagnose disorders 

and disabilities report to the Steelton Department of Transportation (SDOT) any patient 

who has been diagnosed as having a condition that could impair that person’s ability to 
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safely operate a motor vehicle. 

14. Bobby Daley was diagnosed with, and treated for, a condition that would 

impair Bobby Daley’s ability to safely operate a motor vehicle. 

15. Defendant did not report this condition to SDOT.   

16. Defendant knew, or should have known, that Defendant’s failure to report 

this condition put other members of the motoring public, such as Plaintiff, at risk. 

17. Defendant’s negligence caused Plaintiff to suffer great harm as pled above. 

18. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s negligence, Plaintiff 

sustained and will continue to sustain injuries and damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant, exclusive of 

prejudgment interest, post-judgment interest and costs; for punitive damages; and for such 

other relief as this Court seems fit to award. 

A JURY TRIAL IS DEMANDED 

Respectfully submitted 

 

/s/ Lizzie Chia 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

 
SAM SHIELDS; 
 
  Plaintiff,     GD No.: 16-008771 
 
 v. 
 
CHRIS CONDON, MD; 
 
  Defendant. 
 

ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 AND NOW, comes Defendant, Chris Condon, MD, and files the within Answer 

and Affirmative Defenses, the following of which is a statement: 

ANSWER 

 1-2. The averments of Paragraphs 1-2 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are admitted. 

 3-7. As to the averments of Paragraphs 3-7 of Plaintiff’s Complaint, Defendant 

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about the truth of these 

allegations.  As such, the averments are denied. 

 8. The averments of Paragraph 8 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are admitted. 

 9. The averments of Paragraph 9 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are denied.  To the 

contrary, Defendant was under no duty to report Bobby Daley to SDOT, and Defendant 

had no duty to Plaintiff, who is a complete stranger to Defendant. 

 10. The averments of Paragraph 10 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are denied.  

Defendant is not liable to Plaintiff. 

 11. As the averments of Paragraph 11 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are merely an 

incorporation paragraph, no responsive pleading is required.   
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 12. The averments of Paragraph 12 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are denied.  

Defendant is not liable to Plaintiff. 

 13. As the averments of Paragraph 13 of Plaintiff’s Complaint reference a law 

and/or regulation, the averments of this paragraph are denied to the extent that they attempt 

to paraphrase and/or interpret the same.  By way of further response, as the averments of 

Paragraph 13 constitute conclusions of law, no responsive pleading is required. 

 14-18. The averments of Paragraph 14 of Plaintiff’s Complaint are denied.  Bobby 

Daley did not suffer from any condition that would require Defendant to report the same 

to SDOT.  By way of further response, as the averments of Paragraph 14-18 constitute 

conclusions of law, no responsive pleading is required. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 1. Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to set forth a cause of action upon which relief 

may be granted. 

 2. Plaintiff’s Complaint is barred by Plaintiff’s own negligence. 

 3. Plaintiff’s claims were caused or contributed to by the superseding and 

intervening acts of persons, entities, or circumstances beyond the control of Defendant. 

 4. Defendant owed no duty to Plaintiff. 

 WHEREFORE, Defendant, Chris Condon, MD, respectfully requests that this 

Honorable Court enter judgment against Plaintiff and dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint in its 

entirety. 

A JURY TRIAL IS DEMANDED 
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Respectfully submitted 

 

/s/ Mark Trojan 
Attorney for Defendant 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

 
SAM SHIELDS; 
 
  Plaintiff,     GD No.: 16-008771 
 
 v. 
 
CHRIS CONDON, MD; 
 
  Defendant. 
 
 

STIPULATIONS 

 AND NOW, come the parties to this matter, and file the within Stipulations to be 

used at Trial, which shall have the binding effect of being taken as established facts if so 

offered: 

1. On Saturday, June 6, 2015, Bobby Daley was attacked and sustained 

multiple injuries including massive head trauma. 

2. Bobby Daley was deposed, but has since moved out of the jurisdiction.  

Bobby is unavailable to testify, as that term is defined by the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and the Federal Rules of Evidence, and not subject to the subpoena power of 

this jurisdiction at the trial of this matter. 

3. Bobby Daley received a citation for careless driving following the motor 

vehicle accident on September 4, 2016. 

4. The parties agree that Bobby Daley’s May 20, 2017 deposition may be used 

at trial and the deposition testimony itself is not subject to a hearsay objection.  As such, 

the deposition testimony may be used for any purpose so long as the intended use is 

otherwise admissible under the Federal Rules of Evidence. 
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5. The parties further agree that Bobby Daley’s January 8, 2016 deposition 

may be used at trial and the deposition testimony itself is not subject to a hearsay objection.  

As such, the deposition testimony may be used for any purpose so long as the intended use 

is otherwise admissible under the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

6. The District Court for the District of Steelton follows the Federal Rules of 

Evidence. 

7. The District Court for the District of Steelton follows the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. 

8. The depositions are signed and sworn to by each respective deponent as 

being accurate and authentic. 

9. The expert reports were produced by the parties simultaneously before trial.  

Experts have reviewed all documents contained within this case file and may testify to the 

same; however, the expert’s testimony is limited by the applicable Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and Federal Rules of Evidence. 

10. The expert reports have been prepared and signed by each respective expert. 

 11. Plaintiff must call Sam Shields and Eppi Leonard, M.D. as witnesses. 

 12. Defendant must call Chris Condon, M.D. and Bran Hertz, D.O as witnesses. 

 13. This case has been bifurcated into a liability phase and a damages phase.  

For purposes of this trial, the parties will try the liability phase only. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

 
SAM SHIELDS, 
 
  Plaintiff,     GD No.: 16-008771 
 
 v. 
 
CHRIS CONDON, MD; 
 
  Defendant. 
 
 

JOINT EXHIBIT LIST 

 AND NOW, comes the parties to this matter, by and through their respective 

counsel, and submit the following proposed joint exhibit list.  The parties agree the 

identified exhibits are authentic and admissible subject to objection on grounds that the 

proposed exhibit is otherwise inadmissible under the pertinent rules of evidence. 

 1. Police Incident Report for September 4, 2016; 

 2. April 12, 2014 Steelton Post-Gazette newspaper article entitled “Local 

Resident Drives into Building”; 

 3. Pertinent medical records for Bobby Daley; 

 4. CV of Chris Condon, MD;  

 5. Medication data sheet for Gabapentin; 

 6. Photograph of accident location on Kessel Road. 
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Deposition of Sam Shields 1 

 And now, this 30th day of April, 2017, Sam Shields, being duly sworn by the 2 

undersigned appeared at the offices of Kickem and Strait, for the purposes of 3 

deposition by oral questioning. 4 

 (Questioning by Mark Trojan) 5 

Q. Good morning.  We met earlier today before your deposition, but for purposes of 6 

the record, can you please state your name? 7 

A. Sure, my name is Sam Shields. 8 

Q. How old are you? 9 

A. I am 27. 10 

Q. And where do you live?  11 

A. I live here in Steelton. 12 

Q. And your address is? 13 

A. Oh, sorry.  269 Kessel Road, Steelton. 14 

Q. Do you live there alone? 15 

A. No, well, not any more. 16 

Q. What do you mean by that? 17 

A. Prior to my accident, I lived with my significant other, Danny Thomas.  After the 18 

accident, I was in such bad shape that Danny had to take care of me.  I guess Danny 19 

couldn’t handle it anymore and left.  However, I still needed some help with some 20 

day-to-day things, so my friend, Shane Edge, moved in with me.   21 

Q. It is my understanding that you are now fully recovered from the car crash. 22 

A. I am. 23 
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Q. And Shane still lives with you 1 

A. Yes. 2 

Q. Why? 3 

A. Well, not only did I lose my job after the accident, I lost half of the rent when Danny 4 

left.  Shane lives there now to help me with rent as well. 5 

Q. Okay.  Let’s talk about the day of the accident.  Can you describe your day for me 6 

on the date of September 4, 2016? 7 

A. Sure, that was a Sunday so I did not work.   8 

Q. I don’t mean to interrupt you, but where did you work at the time? 9 

A. That’s okay.  I was a laborer at Legstrong Industries.  We made ceiling tile.  I sure 10 

don’t miss that job. 11 

Q. You say you don’t miss that job, I take it you no longer work there? 12 

A. That’s correct.  I could not after the accident.  I am trying to get my job back, but 13 

they have me on a waiting list. 14 

Q. What do you do for money now? 15 

A. I am still collecting unemployment.  Also, I received about $100,000.00 from 16 

Bobby Daley’s car insurance.  Well, a little less than that after my attorney was 17 

paid. 18 

Q. Okay, sorry to interrupt you.  Tell me about that day. 19 

A. Sure, because it was Sunday, I would usually go over to my grandmother’s house 20 

to cut her grass and help her with some things that she could not do. 21 

Q. What is your grandmother’s name? 22 

A. Clara DePaul. 23 
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Q. Wait, you mean the same Clara DePaul that treated with Chris Condon and was 1 

involved in a separate accident? 2 

A. Yes.  That’s her. 3 

Q. What do you know about that accident? 4 

A. I know that she drove through a wall at a local gas station.  She told me, and I guess 5 

everybody else that would listen, that she thought her car was in reverse, but it was 6 

still in drive.  When she pressed down on the accelerator, she went forward through 7 

the wall as opposed to backing out.  Fortunately nobody was hurt. 8 

Q. If I recall the news stories correctly, she lost her license as a result of that, right? 9 

A. She did.  10 

Q. And your grandmother was a patient of Dr. Condon, right? 11 

A. Yes. 12 

Q. And, again, if I am remembering things right, there were some newspaper articles 13 

about senior citizens being permitted to drive? 14 

A. And whether or not doctors should start revoking licenses.  Don’t think the irony is 15 

lost on me, counselor. 16 

Q. Did you read any of these articles? 17 

A. I do not remember, that was a while ago, and my memory is sometimes a little 18 

foggy. 19 

Q. Other than cutting the grass, did you do anything else at your grandmother’s house? 20 

A. Yeah, I remember that day because she had some plumbing issues and I fixed her 21 

sink for her.  I think I had to make three separate trips to the Residence Repair store 22 

to get the right fixtures. 23 
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Q. Did you have any troubles driving that day? 1 

A. Not really, except I did get a ticket for running a stop sign.  I was frustrated and in 2 

a hurry, and I guess, at least according to the officer, that I did not come to a 3 

complete stop at a stop sign on the way to the store.   4 

Q. What happened with that ticket?  5 

A. I paid the fine.  I was in no shape to show up and fight it because of the accident. 6 

Q. Is that the only ticket that you ever received for a motor vehicle violation? 7 

A. No, I got a speeding ticket a couple of months after I first got my license when I 8 

was 16.  I have been a pretty careful driver ever since. 9 

Q. What time did you leave your grandmother’s house that day? 10 

A. It was probably around 7 that night. 11 

Q. And what time did you get there? 12 

A. Around noon. 13 

Q. Between noon and seven, did you do anything other than fix the sink and cut the 14 

grass? 15 

A. We had dinner.  We usually had the whole family over and that Sunday was no 16 

exception.  It was my cousin’s 21st birthday. 17 

Q. 21?  Did you guys have any alcohol? 18 

A. I had a couple of beers at dinner. 19 

Q. What time was that? 20 

A. Probably around 4. 21 

Q. You ate at 4? 22 
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A. Yeah, it seems early, but it is more of a big lunch.  It is usually the only meal that 1 

we eat that day. 2 

Q. So you are sure it was a couple of beers?  Was it two, three, or maybe more? 3 

A. It was only two.  I still had a lot of work to do, and I was working the morning shift 4 

the next day. 5 

Q. So you were not impaired? 6 

A. No.  In fact at the hospital after the accident I know that they did a blood draw and 7 

my BAC was 0.0. 8 

Q. Okay, tell me about your drive home.  How far of a drive is it? 9 

A. Not very far.  About 30 minutes. 10 

Q. And this accident occurred at approximately 7:37 p.m. 11 

A. That is my understanding. 12 

Q. And how far from home were you when the accident occurred? 13 

A. About two blocks.   14 

Q. Did you know Bobby Daley? 15 

A. Not really.  I think I knew that Bobby lived in the neighborhood. 16 

Q. Okay, so tell me what you remember about the accident.  17 

A. I was driving toward my apartment on Kessel Road.   18 

Q. Can you describe Kessel Road for me, at least at the location of the accident? 19 

A. Sure, it is a residential street with houses and apartments on both sides.  Also, cars 20 

park on both sides of the road as well, so sometimes it can seem a little narrow, but 21 

it is more than wide enough to fit two cars. 22 

Q. When did you first notice Bobby’s vehicle? 23 
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A. Bobby was about a block away.  The car ran a stop sign and was driving erratically. 1 

Q. How did you know that the car ran a stop sign? 2 

A. Well, I was particularly sensitive to that on that day, given the fact that I got a ticket 3 

and was not pleased about it.  Anyway, Bobby’s car continued to sway from side 4 

to side.  I thought the driver was drunk.  I slowed down and tried to move to the 5 

right but it did not matter and I was struck. 6 

Q. Did you notice anything about the driver before impact. 7 

A. Yes, the driver’s head was slumped over as if the driver was not even looking at 8 

the road. 9 

Q. What happened next? 10 

A.  I woke up in the hospital. 11 

Q. Before your accident, did you know Dr. Condon? 12 

A. I did not. 13 

Q. Did you know who Dr. Condon was? 14 

A. No, not really.  I did not even know he was the doctor involved in with my 15 

grandmother. 16 

Q. When is the first time that you learned who Dr. Condon was? 17 

A. When my lawyer told me. 18 

Q. Thank you.  I do not have further questions. 19 

WHEREUPON the deposition was concluded.20 
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Deposition of Chris Condon, MD 1 

 And now, this 7th day of April, 2017, Chris Condon, MD, being duly sworn by the 2 

undersigned appeared at the offices of Beau, Bo and Bogey for the purposes of 3 

deposition by oral questioning. 4 

 (Questioning by Lizzie Chia) 5 

Q. Please state your name for the record. 6 

A. My name is Chris Condon. 7 

Q. Chris, my understanding is that you are a medical doctor? 8 

A. That is correct. 9 

Q. Do you mind if I call you Dr. Condon for purposes of this deposition? 10 

A. Sure, I prefer Chris, but Dr. Condon is just fine. 11 

Q. Dr. Condon, where do you live? 12 

A. 178 Clay Street. 13 

Q. Does anybody live there with you? 14 

A. My spouse and two children. 15 

Q. What is your spouse’s name? 16 

A. Francis Daley. 17 

Q. Is Francis related to Bobby? 18 

A. Yes, but only through marriage.  I think they are second cousins or something like 19 

that. 20 

Q. Did you know Bobby before Bobby was a patient? 21 

A. No, not really. 22 

Q. What do you mean by that? 23 
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A. I saw Bobby at family reunions and things like that, but I never really spoke with 1 

Bobby.  It was not until Bobby’s second visit that Bobby mentioned there may be 2 

a familial relationship with my spouse.  3 

Q. Doctor, before today’s deposition, I was provided with a copy of your curriculum 4 

vitae, which I am showing you now.  Is this the most recent copy of your CV? 5 

A. Yes. 6 

Q. So all of the information provided on this document is accurate? 7 

A. Yes, it is. 8 

Q. The reason why I am asking is that I would prefer to skip over your background 9 

information and simply proceed into more substantive matters.  If you are going to 10 

testify at trial, you would agree that everything listed on this CV is accurate? 11 

A. Yes. 12 

Q. Okay, with respect to some things that may not be listed here, have you ever had 13 

your medical license suspended? 14 

A. No. 15 

Q. Have you ever had any disciplinary charges or investigations against you in a 16 

professional capacity? 17 

A. Yes, once. 18 

Q. And would you care to elaborate on that doctor? 19 

A.  Sure.  When I was a young doctor… 20 

Q. Young, how old are you now? 21 

A. Fifty-five. 22 
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Q. Okay, sorry for the interruption.  You just do not seem that old to me.  You can 1 

continue. 2 

A. No problem.  As I was saying, when I was young, fresh off of my residency, I began 3 

seeing a patient that became infatuated with me.  Somehow this patient was able to 4 

get my home phone number and email address and would keep bothering me 5 

outside of office hours.  The patient would also try to make appointments every 6 

day. 7 

Q. So what did you do? 8 

A. I decided to terminate the physician/client relationship.  After that, the patient filed 9 

charges with the Steelton medical board. 10 

Q. What did the patient allege? 11 

A. That I made untoward advances against the patient, which is just ridiculous. 12 

Q. What became of the charges? 13 

A. They were shortly dismissed, and I learned a very valuable lesson about patient 14 

interaction. 15 

Q. So there were no blemishes on your record as a result of these allegations? 16 

A. That is correct. 17 

Q. What was the patient’s name? 18 

By Mr. Trojan: Objection, you know full well that Dr. Condon can’t disclose that 19 

patient’s name.  Not only is the complaint process under seal, it would violate the 20 

patient’s HIPAA rights.  I am instructing the witness not to answer. 21 

By Ms. Chia:  So it is your position that allegations against your client concerning 22 

his failures concerning patient interaction are not relevant. 23 
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By Mr. Trojan: That is part of it.  Also, it is protected by HIPAA and Dr. Condon 1 

could face penalties if the doctor were to reveal that information. 2 

By Ms. Chia:  Very well, I will move on. 3 

Q. Have you ever been sued? 4 

A. No. 5 

Q. Have you ever testified in court before? 6 

A. A couple of times. 7 

Q. In what capacity. 8 

A. I was an expert witness. 9 

Q. Did you testify on behalf of the plaintiff or defendant? 10 

A. Once for each.  In different cases of course. 11 

Q. What type of cases were they? 12 

A. Medical malpractice. 13 

Q. What did they involve? 14 

A. Both cases concerned head injuries.  More specifically, the cases involved damages 15 

and limitations associated with concussions.  One was concerning that hockey 16 

player, Quinn Noonan.  I only testified in the damages portion of that trial. 17 

Q. So you would say that you are familiar with closed head injuries? 18 

A. Yes. 19 

Q. Before Bobby, did you ever treat a patient with a head injury? 20 

A. Yes, numerous times. 21 

Q. My understanding is that you treated Bobby after the June 6, 2015 attack, is that 22 

right? 23 
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A. It is. 1 

Q. How many times did Bobby treat with you? 2 

A. Four times. 3 

Q. I am handing you a copy of the records that your office provided prior to today’s 4 

deposition.  Are these the only records that you have for Bobby? 5 

A. Yes, they are. 6 

Q. And doctor, when you make a medical record for your patients, how do you do it? 7 

A. Mostly every time I am finished with a patient, I will dictate my notes before I see 8 

the next patient. 9 

Q. Do you have any reason to believe you would have done anything differently with 10 

respect to these notes concerning Bobby? 11 

A. No. 12 

Q. Did Bobby ever tell you that he had a seizure? 13 

A. Not specifically. 14 

Q. What do you mean by not specifically? 15 

A.  Bobby had massive head trauma following the attack.  Attendant to that head 16 

trauma were issues with memory loss, loss of focus, loss of concentration and 17 

irritability.  These are all signs and symptoms associated with head trauma, but they 18 

can be related to a seizure disorder as well.  Based upon what I reviewed in the 19 

police report, it seems as though Bobby had an atonic seizure. 20 

Q. What is an atonic seizure? 21 
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A. That is sometimes referred to as a drop seizure.  This occurs when a person’s 1 

muscles suddenly become limp.  The head will drop and the person loses control of 2 

the arms and legs.  These usually last approximately 15-20 seconds. 3 

Q. Okay, but there are several instances in your medical records where Bobby reports 4 

the loss of time for two or three minutes.  Aren’t these symptoms associated with 5 

grand-mal seizure? 6 

A. They are consistent but not determinative.  They are also consistent with other 7 

conditions unrelated to seizures.  I expected Bobby to have some cognitive deficits 8 

likes this, but Bobby certainly never reported having a seizure to me. 9 

Q. Did you ever consider diagnosing Bobby with a seizure disorder? 10 

A. Not really. 11 

Q. What do you mean by that? 12 

A. Well, at first, there were some symptoms that were suggestive of the potential for 13 

a seizure disorder, but not determinative.  And Bobby’s subsequent visits were not 14 

convincing so I ruled it out. 15 

Q. But you would agree with that if somebody’s head slumped and they lost control 16 

of their body movements, that could be indicative of seizure activity, right? 17 

A. It could, but somebody would actually have to witness it and describe it before it 18 

could be diagnosed. 19 

Q. I see here in your June 22, 2015 note that you considered prescribing Gabapentin, 20 

is that right doctor? 21 

A. Yes, and what of it? 22 
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Q. Well, it is my understanding that Gabapentin is used to treat various seizure 1 

disorders.  Is that right? 2 

A. Partially. 3 

Q. Why do you say partially? 4 

A. Because Gabapentin is used to treat multiple problems in addition to seizure 5 

disorders.  Doctors commonly prescribe Gabapentin to treat anxiety, pain, and other 6 

mood disorders.  Bobby was certainly experiencing all of those things, so that is 7 

why I considered the drug. 8 

Q. But you would agree with me that those are off-label uses. 9 

A. Yes. 10 

Q. And what is an off-label use? 11 

A. Off-label means that the medication is being used in a way not specified in the 12 

FDA’s approved packing label.  Every prescription drug marketed in the U.S. 13 

carries an individual, FDA-approved label. This label is a written report that 14 

provides detailed instructions regarding the approved uses and doses, which are 15 

based on the results of clinical studies that the drug maker submitted to the FDA. 16 

However it is common among doctors to prescribe various drugs for off-label use.  17 

It is common to use Gabapentin in the manner that I considered using it.  18 

Q. You would agree with me, however, that Gabapentin’s indications and usages are 19 

primarily directed at the treatment of postherpetic neuralgia and epilepsy, at least 20 

according the FDA packing label, correct? 21 

A. Yes.   22 
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Q. Did you ever consider reporting Bobby to SDOT because you were concerned that 1 

Bobby may not be capable of safely driving a motor vehicle? 2 

A. No, I did not. 3 

Q. Why? 4 

A. I never considered that Bobby was a danger to drive. 5 

Q. Are you aware you have a duty to report certain physical conditions of your patients 6 

to SDOT if they could affect their ability to drive? 7 

A. I am.  Ever since the Clara DePaul incident.  8 

Q. Who is Clara DePaul? 9 

A. A former patient of mine who drove through a convenience store wall.  There was 10 

a lot of press about whether or not she should have been driving or had her license 11 

revoked.   12 

Q. Was there any disciplinary action or investigation into your treatment of Ms. 13 

DePaul. 14 

A. No.  The investigating authorities determined that the cause of the accident was not 15 

something that fell within the statute. 16 

Q. So, at the time you were treating Bobby, were you aware of the statute that required 17 

you to report certain conditions to SDOT? 18 

A. Yes.  Of course. 19 

Q. Dr. Condon, you are aware that if you suspect a patient has a seizure disorder, you 20 

are required to report that to SDOT, right? 21 

A. Yes. 22 

Q. And to be clear, you never reported Bobby Daley to SDOT, correct? 23 
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A. That is correct. 1 

Q. Have you ever reported anybody to SDOT because of their ability to drive safely? 2 

A. No, never.  Personally, I do not believe I have a duty to say who can and can’t drive.   3 

Q. Doctor, are you able to modify your medical records at any time? 4 

A. Well, they are electronic.  I can make changes if necessary. 5 

Q. If you make a change, is there a procedure to do so? 6 

A. Yes. 7 

Q. What is it? 8 

A. I have to put a line through an entry that needs to be changed or add new material 9 

that needs to be added.  I will then add my initials to the modified entry. 10 

Q. And this is how you would indicate that you made a subsequent change to your 11 

medical records? 12 

A. Yes. 13 

Q. Thank you.  I have no further questions. 14 

WHEREUPON the deposition was concluded 15 
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Deposition of Bobby Daley 1 

 And now, this 20th day of May, 2017, Bobby Daley, being duly sworn by the 2 

undersigned appeared at the offices of Kickem and Strait, for the purposes of 3 

deposition by oral questioning. 4 

 (Questioning by Lizzie Chia) 5 

Q. Thank you, Bobby, for coming in again.  As you know, this is not the first time that 6 

we met, but I need to get some background information for the record.  Can you 7 

please state your full name? 8 

A. Bobby Daley. 9 

Q. And where do you live?  10 

A. Right now I live here in Steelton, but I am getting ready to leave for Spain to spend 11 

some time abroad. 12 

Q. Really, how are you going to afford that? 13 

A. I received a pretty big settlement from the Chase’m people, so it is always 14 

something that I wanted to do. 15 

Q. Sounds like fun.  As you know, the reason we are here to talk today is because of 16 

the motor vehicle accident that occurred on September 4, 2016. 17 

A. Yes. 18 

Q. What can you tell us about that accident? 19 

A. I do not remember everything, but I will tell you what I can. 20 

Q. That is all we are asking you to do. 21 

A. Okay.  I was driving to pick up a friend and I was heading down Kessel Road.  The 22 

next thing I know my airbag is deployed and there was a pretty big crash. 23 
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Q. So is it your testimony that you do not remember the actual collision? 1 

A. That is correct.  One minute everything is fine, the next I am sitting in a wrecked 2 

car that collided head on with another. 3 

Q. What is the last thing you remember? 4 

A. I was driving, and there was a car about two hundred feet away coming at me. 5 

Q. Do you remember how fast you were going? 6 

A. Not very fast.  Due to the speed limit, most likely.  It was 25 miles per hour. 7 

Q. Is this the first time you lost memory or time? 8 

A. No, it happens every now and then.  As I am sure you remember, I got beat pretty 9 

badly last year.  Ever since I have had some instances where I forget what I am 10 

doing or how I got to certain places. 11 

Q. Who is your doctor? 12 

A. Dr. Condon. 13 

Q. How long have you been treating with Dr. Condon. 14 

A. I have been treating with Dr. C since about a month after the incident, which 15 

happened on June 6, 2015.  16 

Q. Dr. C?  Is that Dr. Condon? 17 

A. Yes, sorry.  Dr. Condon is pretty laid back.  At least with me, so I just use Dr. C. 18 

Q. What are the reasons you were treating with Dr. Condon? 19 

A. I had massive head trauma following the attack.  I was starting to have issues with 20 

my memory and concentration, and I was really irritable.   21 

Q. And what about your seizures? 22 
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By Mr. Trojan:  Objection to the form.  You know there is nothing in the medical records 1 

before September 4, 2016 concerning a seizure disorder. 2 

By Ms. Chia:  Yes, but Dr. Condon testified that Bobby may have had an atonic seizure 3 

during Dr. Condon’s deposition. 4 

By Mr. Trojan:  Yes, but that was specifically regarding Dr. Condon’s thoughts after the 5 

accident with Sam Shields. 6 

By Ms. Chia:  So you are saying Dr. Condon will not be offering an opinion as to seizure 7 

activity at the trial of this matter? 8 

By Mr. Trojan:  What I am saying is there is no evidence in the medical records or any 9 

place else for that matter that Dr. Condon diagnosed Bobby with a seizure disorder 10 

prior to the accident.  Please rephrase your question. 11 

Q. Did Dr. Condon ever diagnose you with a seizure disorder? 12 

A. No. 13 

Q. Did Dr. Condon ever tell you that you had a seizure? 14 

A. Dr. C mentioned it after the accident.  Dr. C said something about an autumnal 15 

seizure. 16 

Q. Atonic? 17 

A. Yeah, that is it. 18 

Q. Did Dr. Condon ever prescribe you medication for a seizure disorder? 19 

A. No, not really. 20 

Q. What do you mean by not really? 21 

A. Well, after the accident, Dr. Condon mentioned that if I did have problems with 22 

seizures, the Gabapentin that I was taking should address that as well. 23 
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Q. Have you had any seizures following the accident? 1 

A. Not that I am aware of. 2 

Q. What about memory loss or loss of concentration. 3 

A. That happens every so often.  It has, ever since June 6. 4 

Q. Did you tell Dr. Condon about these symptoms? 5 

A. Yes. 6 

By Ms. Chia:  Those are all of the questions that I have. 7 

By Mr. Trojan:  I do have some 8 

Q. You mentioned Gabapentin.  Did Dr. Condon prescribe that for you? 9 

A. Yes. 10 

Q. Did Dr. Condon tell you why? 11 

A. Because of the headaches and pain that I was having after the accident and because 12 

of how irritable I had become. 13 

Q. Did Dr. Condon tell you that the Gabapentin was for seizures, at least before the 14 

car crash on September 4, 2016. 15 

A. No. 16 

Q. In your previous deposition, you did not mention Gabapentin.  Only Xanax, do you 17 

know why? 18 

A. I guess I forgot.  That happens to me a lot. 19 

Q. Did Dr. Condon ever tell you that you could not drive? 20 

A. No. 21 

Q. Well, doesn’t it say that in Dr. Condon’s medical records? 22 

A. I have no idea what is in those records. 23 
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Q. If Dr. Condon would have told you not to drive, would you have listened? 1 

A. Yes. 2 

Q. If your license was revoked, would you have driven? 3 

A. No. 4 

Thank you, that is all that I have. 5 

WHEREUPON the deposition was concluded. 6 
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Deposition of Bobby Daley 1 

 And now, this 8th day of January, 2016, Bobby Daley, being duly sworn by the 2 

undersigned appeared at the offices of Kickem and Strait, for the purposes of 3 

deposition by oral questioning. 4 

 (Questioning by Mark Trojan) 5 

Q. Good morning.  We met earlier today before your deposition, but for purposes of 6 

the record, can you please state your name? 7 

A. Sure, my name is Bobby Daley. 8 

Q. And where do you live?  9 

A. I was supposed to start college this year, but I am living at home with my parents.   10 

Q. Where is that? 11 

A. Oh, sorry, in Steelton. 12 

Q. That’s okay.  Can I have an address please? 13 

A. Why do you need that? 14 

Q. It’s just background information.  I am not going to stop over or anything. 15 

A. Okay.  It’s 480 Pennsylvania Avenue, Steelton.   16 

Q. How old are you? 17 

A. 19. 18 

Q. At the time of the accident, how old were you? 19 

A. What accident?  Do you mean the time I was savagely beaten and had a piece of 20 

bone sticking out of my arm?  Is that the accident that you are talking about? 21 

Q. Listen, I understand this is not what you want to be doing right now, but if you 22 

could just calm down and answer my questions, we could get you in and out of here 23 

much quicker so that you can go about your day. 24 
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A. Sorry.  I get worked up thinking about what happened to me that night. 1 

Q. I understand.  Not a problem. 2 

A. I have a generalized anxiety disorder and I can’t control it sometimes. 3 

Q. Is that something you always had or something that happened since June 6, 2015? 4 

A. It was not diagnosed until after the sixth, but it seems like I always had some sort 5 

of problems in stressful situations. 6 

Q. Do you take any medications for this problem? 7 

A. I take Xanax, but only when I need it. 8 

Q. Did you take Xanax today? 9 

A. I did this morning, but I have not had any in a few hours. 10 

Q. Do you think that is affecting your ability to testify here today? 11 

A. No. 12 

Q. Okay, well I will do my best to keep the stress levels down.  How old were you on 13 

June 6, 2015? 14 

A. I was 18.  I just graduated from high school.  I was really never out after dark that 15 

much with my friends before then.  My parents were kind of strict. 16 

Q. We’ll get to that, but I want to talk to you about some other things first. 17 

A. Alright. 18 

Q. I assume you are familiar with the game Chase’m. 19 

A. Yeah, I mean, I was.  Nobody really plays that game anymore.  It was a lot of fun 20 

when it first came out, but there are new games that I play now. 21 

Q. Let’s focus on 2015 when you graduated high school and still played Chase’m.  22 

When did you first start playing the game? 23 
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A. Probably when it first came out.  I mean, not right away, because the servers were 1 

so busy with new people trying to register that it took a while to get set up. 2 

Q. So it would have been within the first couple of weeks? 3 

A. Probably the first week. 4 

Q. Do you remember when Chase’m first came out? 5 

A. I think it was sometime in April. 6 

Q. Can you tell me about the game?  How do you win? 7 

A. You really don’t win in the traditional sense.  It is more about collecting different 8 

Chase Monsters.  Depending on where you actually were in town, different Chase 9 

Monsters would appear, and you would have to catch them. 10 

Q. So the availability of different monsters depended on where you were physically 11 

located?  12 

A. Exactly. 13 

Q. I think I understand.  How do you go about catching these monsters? 14 

A. Each Chase Monster Wrangler, that is what a player is called, has a Shooter Gun 15 

that you use to stun and capture the Chase Monster.  The rarer a Chase Monster 16 

was, the harder it was to catch.  You had to trade in your earlier catches to get more 17 

powerful Shooter Guns, which in turn allows you to catch rarer Chase Monsters. 18 

Q. Before June 6, how many Chase Monsters did you catch? 19 

A. I probably had just over 60.  I think there are 100. 20 

Q. Did you have any rare Chase Monsters? 21 

A. I had a good mix of common and mid-level ones.  I had only just started catching 22 

rare ones.  That is why I was out that night. 23 
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Q. So, when you set out that day, you knew that you would be staying out late to catch 1 

Chase Monsters? 2 

A. Not exactly. 3 

Q. What do you mean by not exactly? 4 

A. Well, I was out with my friends, Rudy Mast, Brendan Newman and Shelley Primes, 5 

and… 6 

Q. I do not mean to interrupt you, but do you know where we can find Rudy, Brendan 7 

or Shelley? 8 

A. I really have no idea.  They kind of fell off of the face of the earth after that summer. 9 

Q. Really?  Not even on My Face, Tweeter, or any of those other sites? 10 

A. Not a word. 11 

Q. Okay, let’s go back to what we were discussing.  You said you did not set out on 12 

June 6 to catch Chase Monsters, or at least the rare ones I guess? 13 

A. No, we went to see a baseball game.  Rudy’s little brother was playing and we went 14 

for ice cream after. 15 

Q. Is that how you got to Scooter’s? 16 

A. Yes. 17 

Q. Had you been there before? 18 

A. No, or not since it had become Scooter’s.  A few years back it used to be this shady 19 

bar.  A bunch of people got shot in the parking lot one night and they closed it 20 

down. 21 

Q. What can you tell me about the shooting? 22 
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A. Well, I was in junior high, but I do remember some of the details.  Apparently 1 

somebody hit on the wrong girl in the bar, and two groups went outside to fight.  2 

Things got bad and some guy killed two people.  It was big news here in Steelton. 3 

Q. Do you know what happened to the shooter? 4 

A. He went to jail for life, I think. 5 

Q. Did you know that Scooter’s was a Chase Place? 6 

A. Not before I got there.  But, when we arrived, there had to be at least 100 people in 7 

the shop and around the parking lot, all staring at the phones.  I took out my phone 8 

and saw it was a Chase Place.  Then, right on the wall, there was this big flyer about 9 

the fact that all of these rare Chase Monsters could be caught there.  And these rare 10 

Chase Monsters only spawn something like five times at each location. 11 

Q. I am going to show you an advertisement dated June 1, 2015.  Does this appear to 12 

be a copy of the flyer that you were talking about? 13 

A. Yes, that’s it. 14 

Q. What do you mean by spawn? 15 

A. Appear. 16 

Q. Oh, thank you.   17 

A. And, from what I could tell, no Petunia Choppers had been caught at that location 18 

yet, which meant one was due to show up.  The Petunia Chopper was one of the 19 

rarest Chase Monsters there is, so even though I was not sure my Shooter Gun was 20 

powerful enough to catch it, I wanted to take my chance at getting one. 21 

Q. Did you buy anything at Scooter’s?  22 
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A. Yes, I got some ice cream, it was not really that good, and that is hard to say about 1 

ice cream.   2 

Q. What time did you get to Scooter’s? 3 

A. Around 8 p.m. 4 

Q. Did you stay after you finished your ice cream? 5 

A. Yes. 6 

Q. Even though you did not order anything else and the ice cream was not that good. 7 

A. The place was packed with people just staring at their phones.  Nobody asked us to 8 

leave when we finished. 9 

Q. Did you know that Scooter’s closed at 10 p.m.? 10 

A. I found out when they asked us to leave. 11 

Q. Where did you go? 12 

A. We tried to hang out in the parking lot, but we were asked to go stand on the 13 

sidewalk next to the parking lot. 14 

Q. Where did you end up going? 15 

A. We went onto the sidewalk right next to the shop. 16 

Q. This is a diagram of the property.  Can you please place an X as to where you were 17 

standing? 18 

A. I was right here. 19 

Q. What was the lighting like?  All of the parking lights in Scooter’s lot were on.  20 

However, none of the lights on the street came on for some reason. 21 

Q. What happened to all of the other people? 22 

A. They started to leave until it was just us. 23 
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Q. Why did you not leave? 1 

A. Brendan and I really wanted to take a shot at catching at least one rare Chase 2 

Monster. 3 

Q. What happened next? 4 

A. Rudy mentioned that he saw some people coming our way and that maybe we 5 

should get going.  I said they were probably coming to play the game as well.  He 6 

said he did not think so, and then I heard a voice say, “I told you we could find 7 

some of those video game nerds here.  Easy pickings.”  I was hit in the head and 8 

next thing I remember was waking up in the hospital a couple of days later. 9 

Q. Do you know who hit you? 10 

A. I do not. 11 

Q. Do you know what happened to your friends?  Were they attacked that night? 12 

A. No.  I guess I was the closest to those jerks so they started beating on me and my 13 

friends ran away.  Some friends, huh? 14 

Q. I am sorry to hear that your friends left you.  I do not have further questions. 15 

WHEREUPON the deposition was concluded. 16 
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November 15, 2017 
 

Lizzie Chia, Esquire 
Beau, Bo and Bogey 
1919 Dark Tower Rd. 
District of Steelton, USA 12345 
 
  Re: Sam Shields v. Chris Condon, MD 
 
Dear Ms. Chia: 

 Your office has retained me to determine whether or not Chris Condon, MD, knew 
or should have known that Bobby Daley had a seizure disorder prior to September 4, 2016.  
Attendant to this issue is whether or not Dr. Condon should have reported Bobby Daley to 
the Steelton Department of Transportation.   

 In short, it is my opinion that Dr. Condon, at a minimum, should have known that 
Bobby Daley had a seizure disorder prior to September 4, 2016 and, based upon the 
evidence, it appears that Dr. Condon actually did know that Bobby Daley had a seizure 
disorder.  In turn, it follows as a matter of course that Dr. Condon was obligated to report 
Bobby Daley to SDOT to ensure that Bobby Daley’s driver privileges were revoked. 

 In reaching my opinions, I have relied upon the following materials: 

• Plaintiff’s Complaint; 
 
• Defendant’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses; 
 
• Exhibits provided identified in the Joint Exhibit List; 
 
• Stipulations of Counsel; 
 
• Deposition of Sam Shields; 
 
• Deposition of Chris Condon, MD; and,  
 
• Depositions of Bobby Daley 

 
My opinions are set forth in detail below.  All my opinions are held within a reasonable 
degree of medical certainty. 
 

FACTS UNDERLYING OPINIONS 
 
 Sam Shields was viciously struck in a head on collision by a motor vehicle operated 
by Bobby Daley on September 4, 2016.  Approximately fifteen months before the 
September 4, 2016 motor vehicle accident, Bobby Daley was involved in a physical 
altercation while playing the game Chase’m.  Bobby sustained significant injuries in that 
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assault including, but not limited to, severe head trauma.  Specifically, Bobby sustained a 
subdural hematoma and a fractured orbital socket. 
 
 Following the June 6, 2015 beating, Bobby began seeking medical treatment from 
multiple providers concerning injuries sustained.  Most notably, with respect to your 
inquiry, Bobby began treatment with Dr. Condon on June 22, 2015.  Medical records 
provided to me indicate that Bobby treated with Dr. Condon on June 22, 2015; July 7, 
2015; August 7, 2015; and March 7, 2016. 
 
 On September 4, 2016, Bobby was involved in a motor vehicle accident with Sam 
Shields.  Accordingly to materials made available to me, including the statement provided 
by Sam Shields, Bobby appeared to be “slumped” over the steering wheel of Bobby’s car 
and not actually driving at the time of, and immediately preceding, the impact. 
 
 As a result of the impact, Sam Shields sustained significant injuries.  It is my 
understanding that Bobby was cited for careless driving. 
 

OPINIONS 
 
 A. Bobby Daley exhibited signs and symptoms of a seizure disorder 
 
 There are multiple types of seizures that one can experience, however they are 
generally broken down into three categories.  The first type, generalized onset seizures, 
affect both sides of the brain and include tonic-clonic, absence, and atonic.  The second 
type of seizure is a focal onset seizure, which is a type of seizure that starts in a localized 
area of the brain.  Finally, there is the unknown onset seizure, which is a seizure of 
unknown origin.   
 
 In atonic seizures, a person’s muscles will become limp or weak, much like what 
Sam Shields described of Bobby Daley immediately preceding the accident. 
 
 Seizures are not uncommon and, in fact, approximately 8-10 percent of the 
population will experience a seizure at some point in their lives.  Seizures can result from 
traumatic brain injuries and are a long recognized complication associated with traumatic 
brain injury (TBI).  
 
 In that regard, seizures occurring more than one week after head injury reflect more 
permanent structural changes within the brain and demonstrate the onset of post-traumatic 
epilepsy.  About 40 percent of individuals with post-traumatic epilepsy have onset within 
six months; 50 percent within one year; and about 80 percent within two years of head 
injury. 
 
 It is important to remember that when diagnosing a seizure, it is difficult, if not 
impossible, to rely upon a description of the event from the patient.  That is why the medical 
records from Dr. Condon that were provided to me are so crucial.  It is clear that while 
Bobby is relating signs and symptoms of seizure activities, either Dr. Condon fails to 
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recognize the same or chooses to ignore them.  At the very least, the medical records 
indicate that further diagnostic imaging was warranted.   
  

CONCLUSION 
 
 It is clear to me that Bobby Daley was suffering from a trauma-related, post 
traumatic seizure disorder.  Dr. Condon consistently reports in the medical records that 
Bobby experiences loss of time, loss of memory and headaches.  All of these are signs and 
symptoms of seizure and, at a minimum, warranted further diagnostic testing. 
 
 In fact, it is my belief that Dr. Condon suspected a seizure disorder because Dr. 
Condon prescribed Gabapentin.  The primary use for Gabapentin is to treat seizure 
disorders.  While I recognize that Gabapentin can be used to treat pain and certain mood 
disorders, I believe Dr. Condon simply got lucky with the prescription of this particular 
drug.  Moreover, because Gabapentin is utilized to treat seizures, it is highly likely that 
Bobby would have had more seizures had Bobby not been on the medication. 
 
 In this regard it is clear that Dr. Condon should have identified a paroxysmal 
disruption of cerebral function characterized by altered consciousness, altered motor 
activity or behavior.  Further, Dr. Condon should have known that Bobby had a seizure 
disorder.  While the same was not electronically diagnosed, that is only because Dr. Condon 
failed to order the appropriate testing. 
 
 All of my opinions have been rendered within a reasonable degree of medical 
certainty. 
 
  
       Very truly yours, 
 

       Eppi Leonard, M.D. 
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Eppi Leonard, M.D. 
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Steelton 
 
Education  
 
University of Steelton 1996 
B.S. with a major in Biochemistry 
Suma Cum Laude 
 
Steelton Medical School 2000 
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December 5, 2017 
 

Mark Trojan, Esquire 
Kickem and Straight 
257 Wilderness Drive 
District of Steelton, USA 12345 
 
 Re: Opinions as to Reasonable Care Offered by Dr. Chris Condon, M.D. 
 
Dear Mr. Trojan: 

 It is with great pleasure that I offer the following opinions concerning my review 
of your client’s care of Bobby Daley.  In sum, Dr. Condon, at all times, acted within the 
standard of care.  It is clear that Dr. Condon appropriately treated Bobby.  Further, Dr. 
Condon’s records do not suggest that Bobby was having any type of seizures warranting 
removal of Bobby’s driver’s license. 
 
 In fact, my review demonstrates that Dr. Condon went above and beyond what was 
needed by the standard of care.  Despite the fact that Dr. Condon consistently advised 
Bobby not to drive, even though it was not required, it seems as though Bobby failed to 
heed these warnings.  
 
 In reaching my opinions, which are being offered within a reasonable degree of 
medical certainty, I have reviewed the all of the depositions that were taken in this matter 
(including the previous deposition of Bobby Daley), the exhibits that have been identified 
on the joint exhibit list, Dr. Condon’s medical records and the relevant medical literature.  
I personally know Dr. Condon and I have found that Dr. Condon is an exceptional doctor 
who at all times goes the extra mile for patients. 
 
 Based upon my review, Dr. Condon began treating Bobby shortly after this 
individual was the victim of a horrendous attack.  Of particular importance, Bobby 
sustained significant head trauma, followed by post-concussion syndrome.   
 
 I do not think that Bobby had a seizure disorder, but, rather, Bobby had a concussion 
and issues related to that concussion.  Concussions are brain injuries. The brain is a soft 
organ that is surrounded by spinal fluid inside of the skull that serves to protect the brain 
from injury.  However, certain events can cause the brain to move inside this liquid, which 
in turn, causes it to strike the skull and sustain injury, i.e., a concussion. Concussions can 
be difficult to diagnose as there is no actual physical manifestation that can be seen such 
as a bruise or a broken bone on an X-ray.  A concussion can be sustained from any blow 
to the head.  Here, it is uncontradicted that Bobby had multiple blows to the head. 
 
 There are several symptoms that are associated with concussions that permit 
diagnosis, and they can range from the obvious to the subtle. These symptoms, like with 
Bobby, can last months or even years.  One of the more prominent symptoms associated 
with concussion is an issue with memory. Somebody who is concussed may have trouble 
remembering things, they may not be able to remember new facts, or they may seem to be 
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slower than normal. These symptoms may be observed through conversation with the 
individual, and by presenting him or her with questions concerning memory. 
 
 Bobby demonstrated all of these symptoms and related the same to Dr. Condon.  
Based upon these observations and details, Dr. Condon correctly identified Bobby as 
suffering from a concussion-related injury.   
 
 In addition to memory loss, there are some physical symptoms that may be present, 
the most common of which are headache, blurred vision, balance issues, and nausea.  
Clearly, Bobby demonstrated all of these symptoms as recorded by Dr. Condon in the 
medical records.   
  
 Also, there is an emotional component associated with concussions. The individual 
may feel angry or more aggressive than usual. Conversely, he or she may also appear to 
have a depressed effect, or appear to be anxious.  Again, Dr. Condon recognized these 
symptoms and treated them as well.   
  
 It is not unusual for a person that has sustained a concussion to develop post-
concussive syndrome. Basically, this means that the individual may continue to experience 
the above described symptoms. 
 
 Thusly, it is my opinion that Dr. Condon treated Bobby appropriately when Dr. 
Condon diagnosed Bobby as having post-concussion syndrome.  Although many of the 
symptoms for post-concussion syndrome and seizure disorders overlap, I believe that Dr. 
Condon appropriately treated Bobby based upon the symptoms presented to Dr. Condon.  
While I am unable to substantiate the underlying etiology of the symptoms experienced by 
Bobby immediately before the crash on September 4, 2016, and I cannot rule out seizure, 
I do not think Bobby definitively suffered a seizure.  As such, I see no reason that would 
have required Dr. Condon to revoke Bobby’s driver’s license. 
 

As to the use of Gabapentin, I do not believe this indicates that Dr. Condon believed 
Bobby had a seizure disorder.  There are many off label uses for the medication that fit 
Bobby’s particular medical record. 
 
 It is my opinion, then, taking the above into consideration, that Dr. Condon acted 
appropriately and did not deviate from the standard of care.  All of my opinions herein have 
been offered within a reasonable degree of professional certainty. 
 
      Very truly yours, 

 

      Bran Hertz, D.O. 
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Volunteer Services 
 
Doctors without borders, 1999-present 
 
Prior Testimony 
 
I have testified 12 times before this trial.  Nine of those times I have offered testimony on 
behalf of Defendant doctors.  2 of those times I have offered causation testimony on 
injuries in motor vehicle accidents on behalf of Defendants.  One time I testified on 
behalf of a patient in a medical malpractice case.  My hourly rate is $600 per hour, with a 
$1500 flat rate for trial testimony. 
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NAME AGE SEX VEH.NO. INJURY SEATING ACTIVE PASSIVE

TYPE POSITION RESTRAINT RESTRAINT

COMMONWEALTH OF
Driver’s Accident Report

FORWARD THIS REPORT WITHIN 5 DAYS TO THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,
BUREAU OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND TRAFFIC ENGINEERING, P.O. Box 2047, 17105-2047

Vehicle Code, Section 3747 states: All reports are confidential, not available as trial evidence

INJURY CLASS
0 - NO INJURY
1 - DEATH

2 - MAJOR INJURY
3 - MODERATE INJURY
4 - MINOR INJURY
9 - UNKNOWN

POSITION
1 - DRIVER

2-6 - PASSENGER
7 - PEDESTRIAN
8 - OTHER

1 2 3

4 5 6

ACTIVE RESTRAINT
0 - NONE

1 - SHOULDER HARNESS

ONLY

2 - SEAT BELT ONLY

3 - COMBINATION

(HARNESS & BELT)
4 - CHILD RESTRAINT

7 - MOTORCYCLE HELMET

8 - OTHER

9 - UNKNOWN

PASSIVE RESTRAINT
0 - NONE OR PEDESTRIAN
1 - AIRBAG (DEPLOYED)
2 - AIRBAG (NOT DEPLOYED)
3 - AUTOMATIC SEAT BELT
8 - OTHER

9 - UNKNOWN

TO PROPERLY LOCATE ACCIDENTS, USE AS City - Borough - Township On: (Street Name or Highway Number)

LANDMARKS; SR SEGMENT NUMBERS,

MILEPOSTS; INTERSECTION OF TWO HIGH-WAYS;

CITY, BOROUGH, TOWNSHIP, OR COUNTY LINES.

AA-600 (11-09)

Date of Accident (Month - Day - Year) County Day of Week Hour (AM - PM) Check if Hit-Run ❏

SEVERITY : Was Towing Required? Number of Vehicles Involved Number Injured Number Killed

UNIT 1: ❏ YES ❏ NO UNIT 2: ❏ YES ❏ NO

L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

Operator’s Name (First, Middle, Last) Date of Birth Operator’s License Number and State
Mr.
Mrs.
Miss

Address (Street, City, State, Zip Code) Vehicle License Number and State

Owner’s Name (First, Middle, Last) Year Make Model
Mr.
Mrs.
Miss

Address (Street, City, State, Zip Code) PA TITLE OR OUT-OF-STATE VIN

M
Y
V
E
H
IC
L
E
•
N
O
1

T
I
M
E

At Intersection With: If Not At Intersection : _______ Feet N S E W
Of Station Marker - Intersection - Etc…

USE THE FOLLOWING SECTION TO RECORD VEHICLE NUMBER 2, PEDESTRIAN, OR OTHER PROPERTY

Operator’s Name (First, Middle, Last) Date of Birth Operator’s License Number and State
Mr.
Mrs.
Miss

Address (Street, City, State, Zip Code) Vehicle License Number and State

Owner’s Name (First, Middle, Last) Year Make Model
Mr.
Mrs.
Miss

Address (Street, City, State, Zip Code) PA TITLE OR OUT-OF-STATE VIN

Description of Damaged Property Check If State Owned Property ❏

O
T
H
E
R

IF MORE VEHICLES/PEDESTRIANS/OCCUPANTS ARE INVOLVED USE ADDITIONAL REPORTS.

P
E
R
S
O
N
S
IN
V
O
L
V
E
D

Insurance
Company

Insurance
CompanyInformation Information

Unit 1 Policy No. Unit 2 Policy No.

x x

Steelton     Sunday 1937

2 2 0

Steelton Kessel Road

no intersection

Bobby Daley

2011 Chevy     Camaro

269 Kessel Road

Sam Shields

Same

Vehicle was totalled

480 Pennsylvania Ave. Steelton

Same

 Steelton

2015     Ford Focus

Bobby Daley 20

1/8/97

M 1 3 1 3 1

Sam Shields 25 M 2 2 1 9 1

STEELTON

STEELTON
STEELTON

Steelton

ST

ST

Exhibit A

6/7/89
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INSTRUCTIONS:

1. Draw Diagram As
Clearly As You Can.

2. Show Your Vehicle
As Number 1.

3. Label All Streets,
Highways, and
Landmarks.

4. Draw An Arrow
In Circle Below So
It Points North.

5. Complete Narrative.

Indicate North By
Arrow

WEATHER: ROADWAY:

❏ Rain ❏ Snow ❏ Clear ❏ Foggy ❏ Other ❏ Wet ❏ Snowy ❏ Dry ❏ Icy ❏ Rain

GIVE A DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE ACCIDENT IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO IMPACT,

AT IMPACT, AND IMMEDIATELY AFTER IMPACT, REFER TO VEHICLES BY NUMBERS

SIGNATURE DATE

POLICE INVESTIGATED: ❏ YES ❏ NO If Yes, Name of Police Department:

0 = None
1 = 1 o'clock
2 = 2 o'clock
3 = 3 o'clock
4 = 4 o'clock
5 = 5 o'clock
6 = 6 o'clock
7 = 7 o'clock
8 = 8 o'clock
9 = 9 o'clock

10 = 10 o'clock
11 = 11 o'clock
12 = 12 o'clock
13 = Top of Vehicle
14 = Vehicle Undercarriage
15 = Use when the initial

impact was with a towed unit
(such as utility trailer vehicle,
horse van, etc…)

99 = Unknown

VEHICLE NUMBER 1:

INITIAL IMPACT POINT _______

LEGAL SPEED _______ MPH

ESTIMATED SPEED _______ MPH

VEHICLE NUMBER 2:

INITIAL IMPACT POINT _______

LEGAL SPEED _______ MPH

ESTIMATED SPEED _______ MPH

9 3

12

6

x x

1-2
25

20

10-12
25

25

See attached diagram

Driver of unit 1 was heading east bound on Kessel.  Reports are that Driver 1 was driving erratically and 

ran a stop sign.  Driver 2 reports seeing Driver 1 slumped over steering wheel prior to impact
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LOCAL RESIDENT DRIVES INTO BUILDING 

April 12, 2014—Steelton Local resident Clara DePaul sustained minor injuries following an 

incident last week when she drove into a local convenience store.  No other individuals were hurt, 

however, several patrons of the store were reported to be visibly shaken.   

The accident occurred because Ms. DePaul believed that her vehicle was in reverse.  It was not.  

When she hit the accelerator, instead of moving backwards, her vehicle crashed through the 

window and destroyed a display case containing beef jerky and other processed meat products.   

Mike Streib, owner of the store reports close to $20,000.00 in damages to his property.  “I can’t 

believe this happened again,” he stated referencing a similar incident occurring three years ago 

when Max Petrunya, another senior member of the Steelton community, was involved in a nearly 

identical incident.   

This incident reintroduces the conversation of the safety for both drivers and the motor public in 

general as related to the competency of an individual to drive.    

Both Ms. DePaul and Mr. Petrunya were patients of Dr. Chris Condon of Steelton.  Dr. Condon 

indicated awareness of the Steelton statute that requires a physician to notify the Steelton 

Department of Transportation of an individual’s inability to drive.  However, Dr. Condon refused 

to comment for this story. 

Exhibit B
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Leave your comments below. 

 

Krista Fullen: I think it is about time that these doctors be held accountable for letting people drive 

who should not be allowed to drive. 

 

Doug Rowe:  What a terrible tragedy.  I do hope everybody is okay. 

 

Ryan Matsook:  Dr. Condon should be ashamed putting our lives at risk again. 

 

Sam Shields:  How is this Dr. Condon’s fault?  A doctor has no right to say who can and can’t 

drive.  This is America, right?  I wish somebody would come along and make America great 

again… 

 

Ryan Matsook:  Sam, you are kidding right?  This person could have killed an entire family. 

 

Comments Closed 
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Condon Family Medicine 
Progress Notes 

Daley, Bobby 

MRN:  01081977 

DOB:  

DOV:  June 22, 2015 

Social History:  Chewing tobacco approximately one can every two days.  Counseled to quit.  

Drinks 4-6 drinks per week.  No illicit drug use.  Single. 

Family History: History reviewed and positive for cancer on mother’s side.  Father died at 

59 related to heart disease.  Grandfather had epilepsy. 

ROS: VSS.  Limited ULE movement due to casting related to open fracture.  Positive for 

headaches, memory loss, and blurred vision. 

Physical Examination 

Subjective: Reports to me as a new patient.  Was involved in an incident on the evening of June 

6, 2015, concerning a physical altercation in which he was beaten pretty badly.  Sustained open 

fracture of ULE and obvious closed head injury.  Here for treatment involving the head injury.  

Reports headache, loss of memory, loss of focus, loss of concentration and pressure in the head 

and neck injury.   

Current Medications: Vicodin as related to pain for fracture.  Paxil and Xanax, prn for 

mood disorder and generalized anxiety.  

Assessment:  Post-concussion syndrome.  Will continue to monitor.  Will continue Paxil and prn 

Xanax.  Will add Imitrex and Gabapentin off label.  I do not suspect seizure disorder but some 

findings could be indicative of the same.  Gabapentin should help in that case. Patient advised 
against driving for the time being. 

Plan: Patient will return in two weeks for f/u. 

Exhibit C

1/8/97
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Condon Family Medicine 
Progress Notes 

Daley, Bobby 

MRN:  01081977 

DOB:  

 

DOV:  July 7, 2015 

 

Social History:  Chewing tobacco approximately one can every two days.  Counseled to quit.  

Drinks 4-6 drinks per week. Not drinking while on medication.  No illicit drug use.  Single.  Patient 

still driving. 

 

Family History: History reviewed and positive for cancer on mother’s side.  Father died at 

59 related to heart disease.  Grandfather had epilepsy. 

 

ROS: VSS.  Limited ULE movement due to casting related to open fracture.  Positive for 

headaches, memory loss and blurred vision. 

 

Physical Examination 

 

Subjective: F/u appointment.  ULE doing much better.  No longer on opioid pain killers.  

Continues with post-concussive related symptoms.   

 

Current Medications:  Patient d/c Vicodin as no longer required.  Continues with Paxil, Xanax, 

prn, Imitrex, and Gabapentin.  No side effects reported.   

 

Assessment:  Continued post-concussion syndrome.  Will continue to monitor.  No medication 

change. Continue to advise patient against driving for the time being.   
 

Plan: Patient will return in four weeks for f/u. 

  

1/8/97
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Condon Family Medicine 
Progress Notes 

Daley, Bobby 

MRN:  01081977 

DOB:  

 

DOV:  August 7, 2015 

 

Social History:  No longer using chewing tobacco.  Not currently consuming alcohol.  No illicit 

drug use.  Single.  Patient still driving. 

 

Family History: History reviewed and positive for cancer on mother’s side.  Father died at 

59 related to heart disease.  Grandfather had epilepsy. 

 

ROS: VSS.  Limited ULE movement due to casting related to open fracture.  Positive for 

headaches, memory loss and blurred vision. 

 

Physical Examination 

 

Subjective: F/u appointment.  ULE doing much better.  Expects cast will be removed within 

the next two weeks.  Continues with post-concussive related symptoms.  Patient related that patient 

experienced several instances of significant memory loss.  For instance, patient would wake laying 

on or near couch watching television when the last thing patient remembered was sitting on couch.  

One instance in shower.  Patient relates 4-5 instances of this since last visit.  New occurrence since 

last visit. 

 

Current Medications:  Patient d/c Vicodin as no longer required.  Continues with Paxil, Xanax, 

prn, Imitrex, and Gabapentin.  No side effects reported.   

 

Assessment:  Continued post-concussion syndrome.  Will continue to monitor.  No medication 

change.  Symptom suggestive of potential seizure disorder, but not indicative of the same.  If 

instances continue, will set schedule for appropriate diagnostic testing.  Increase strength of 

Gabapentin. Continue to advise patient against driving for the time being.   
 

Plan: Patient will return in six months for f/u. 

 

  

1/8/97
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Condon Family Medicine 
Progress Notes 

Daley, Bobby 

MRN:  01081977 

DOB:  

 

DOV:  March 7, 2016 

 

Social History:  Former tobacco user.  Not currently consuming alcohol.  No illicit drug use.  

Single.  Patient still driving. 

 

Family History: History reviewed and positive for cancer on mother’s side.  Father died at 

59 related to heart disease.  Grandfather had epilepsy. 

 

ROS: VSS.  ULE not returned to baseline, but I believe it is at maximum recovery.  Continues to 

experience headaches, memory loss and blurred vision, but reports less frequency. 

 

Physical Examination 

 

Subjective: F/u appointment.  ULE has reached maximum improvement.  Continues with post-

concussive related symptoms.  Patient related that patient continues to experience instances of 

memory loss, but none within the past week.  Frequency of approximately one incident every two 

to three weeks with the exception that none have been reported in last week.  Headaches decreased 

as well as mood and blurred vision. 

 

Current Medications:  Patient d/c Vicodin as no longer required.  Continues with Paxil, Xanax, 

prn, Imitrex and Gabapentin.  No side effects reported.   

 

Assessment:  Continued post-concussion syndrome.  Will continue to monitor.  No medication 

change.  Symptom no longer suggestive of potential seizure disorder.  No need for further 

diagnostic imaging.  Will continue Gabapentin and Imitrex.  
 

Plan: Patient will return in six months for f/u. 

1/8/97
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CURRICULUM VITAE 

Chris Condon, M.D. 

Suite 81 Fleury Building 

269 Chase Street 

Penns Woods 

Education 

Steelton State 1983 

B.S. with a major in Biology 

Steelton Medical School 1987 

M.D.

Residency and Fellowship 1987-1992 

Penns Woods Regional Hospital 

Board Certification in Family Practice 1993 

History 

1993-present 

Condon Family Medical Group 

Publications 

I have focused on my patients rather than publishing article 

Awards 

Best Doctor, Penns Woods Gazette 1997, 1998, 2003, 2013, 2016 

Exhibit D
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

SAM SHIELDS; 

Plaintiff, GD No.: 15-008771 

v. 

DR. CHRIS CONDON, M.D.; 

Defendant. 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

BELIEVABILITY OF WITNESSES GENERALLY 

As judges of the facts, you decide the believability of the witnesses’ testimony. 

This means that you decide the truthfulness and accuracy of each witness’s testimony and 

decide whether to believe all, or part, or none of that witness’s testimony. The following 

are some of the factors that you may and should consider when determining the 

believability of the witnesses and their testimony: 

a. How well could each witness see, hear or know the things
about which he or she testified?

b. How well could the witness remember and describe those
things?

c. Was the ability of the witness to see, hear, know,
remember, or describe those things affected by age or by any
physical, mental or intellectual deficiency?

d. Did the witness testify in a convincing manner? How did
the witness look, act and speak while testifying?

e. Was the testimony uncertain, confused, self- contradictory
or presented in an evasive manner?

f. Did the witness have any interest in the outcome of the
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case, or any bias, or any prejudice, or any other motive that might 
have affected his or her testimony? 
 
g. Was a witness’s testimony contradicted or supported by 
other witnesses’ testimony or other evidence? 
 
h. Does the testimony make sense to you? 

i. If you believe some part of the testimony of a witness to be 
inaccurate, consider whether that inaccuracy cast doubt upon the 
rest of that same witness’s testimony. This may depend on 
whether the inaccuracy is in an important matter or in a minor 
detail. 

j. You should also consider any possible explanation for 
the inaccuracy. Did the witness make an honest mistake or simply 
forget, or was there a deliberate attempt to present false testimony? 
 
k. If you find that a witness intentionally lied about a 
significant fact that may affect the outcome of the trial, you may, 
for that reason alone, choose to disbelieve the rest of that witness’s 
testimony. But, you are not required to do so. 
 
l. As you decide the believability of each witness’s 
testimony, you will at the same time decide the believability of 
other witnesses and other evidence in the case. 
 
m. If there is a conflict in the testimony, you must decide 
which, if any, testimony you believe is true. 

 
As the only judges of believability and facts in this case, you, the jurors, are 

responsible to give the testimony of every witness, and all the other evidence, whatever 

credibility and weight you think it is entitled to receive. 

EXPERT TESTIMONY 
 

During the trial you have heard testimony from both fact witnesses and expert 

witnesses. To assist juries in deciding cases such as this one, involving scientific, technical 

or other specialized knowledge beyond that possessed by a layperson, the law allows an 

expert witness with special education and experience to present opinion testimony. 
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An expert witness gives his or her opinion, to a reasonable degree of professional 

certainty, based upon the assumption of certain facts. You do not have to accept an expert’s 

opinion just because he or she is considered an expert in his or her field. 

In evaluating an expert witness’s testimony and in resolving any conflicting 

expert witness’s testimony, you should consider the following: 

a. The witness’s knowledge, skill, experience, training and 
education; 
 
b. Whether you find that the facts the witness relied upon in 
reaching his or her opinion are accurate; and, 
 
c. All the believability factors I have given to you. 

EXPERT OPINION – BASIS FOR OPINION GENERALLY 
 

In general, the opinion of an expert has value only when you accept the facts upon 

which it is based. This is true whether the facts are assumed hypothetically by the expert, 

or they come from the expert’s personal knowledge, from some other proper source, or 

from some combination of these. 

WEIGHING CONFLICTING EXPERT TESTIMONY 
 

In resolving any conflict that may exist in the testimony of expert witnesses, you 

are entitled to weigh the opinion of one expert against that of another. In doing this, you 

should consider the relative qualifications and reliability of the expert witnesses, as well as 

the reasons for each opinion and the facts and other matters upon which it was based. 

CONFLICTING TESTIMONY 
 

You may find inconsistencies within the testimony of a single witness, or conflicts 

between the testimony of several witnesses. Conflicts or inconsistencies do not necessarily 

mean that a witness intentionally lied. Sometimes two or more persons witnessing the 
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same incident see, hear, or remember it differently. Sometimes a witness remembers 

incorrectly or forgets. If the testimony of a witness seems inconsistent within itself, or if the 

testimony given by several witnesses conflicts, you should try to reconcile the differences. 

If you cannot reconcile the differences, you must then decide which testimony, if any, 

you believe. 

DIRECT AND CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE 
 

The evidence presented to you may be either direct or circumstantial evidence. 

Direct evidence is testimony about what a witness personally saw, heard, or did. 

Circumstantial evidence is testimony about one or more facts that logically leads you 

to believe the truth of another fact. You should consider both direct and circumstantial 

evidence in reaching your verdict. You may decide the facts in this case based upon 

circumstantial evidence alone. 

NEGLIGENCE – DEFINITION 
 

In this case you must decide whether the Defendant was negligent. I will now 

explain what negligence is. A person must act in a reasonably careful manner to avoid 

injuring others. The care required varies according to the circumstances and the degree of 

danger at a particular time. You must decide how a reasonably careful person would act 

under the circumstances established by the evidence in this case. A person who does 

something a reasonably careful person would not do under the circumstances is negligent. 

A person also can be negligent by failing to act. A person who fails to do something 

a reasonably careful person would do under the circumstances is negligent. 

ISSUE IN THE CASE 

The issues you must decide, in accordance with the law as I give it to you, are: 
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1.  Was Dr. Condon negligent? 

2.  Was Dr. Condon’s negligent conduct a factual cause in bringing 
about the harm to Sam Shields? 

 

BURDEN OF PROOF 
 
 In civil cases, the Plaintiff has the burden of proving his claims. 
 

The Plaintiff must prove his or her claims by a legal standard called “a 

preponderance of the evidence.” Preponderance of the evidence means the claim is more 

likely true than not. 

If, after considering all the evidence, you find the Plaintiff’s claims are more 

likely true than not, you must find for the Plaintiff. 

Think about an ordinary balance scale with a pan on each side to hold objects. 

Imagine using the scale as you deliberate in the jury room. Place all the evidence favorable 

to the Plaintiff in one pan. Place all evidence favorable to the Defendant in the other. If 

the scales tip, even slightly, to the Plaintiff’s side, then, you must find for the Plaintiff. If, 

however, the scales tip even slightly on the Defendant’s side, or if the two sides balance, 

then you must find for the Defendant. 

In this case, the Plaintiff has the burden of proving the following claims: 
 

a. The Defendant was negligent; and, 
 
b. The Defendant’s negligence was a factual cause in bringing 
about the harms/damages. 
 

FACTUAL CAUSE 
 

In order for Plaintiff to recover in this case, Defendant's negligent conduct must 

have been a factual cause in bringing about harm. Conduct is a factual cause of harm 
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when the harm would not have occurred absent the conduct. To be a factual cause, the 

conduct must have been an actual, real factor in causing the harm, even if the result 

is unusual or unexpected. A factual cause cannot be an imaginary or fanciful factor having 

no connection or only an insignificant connection with the harm. 

To be a factual cause, Defendant’s conduct need not be the only factual cause. 

The fact that some other causes concur with the negligence of the Defendant in producing 

an injury does not relieve the defendant from liability as long as his or her own negligence 

is a factual cause of the injury. 

 

CONCURRING CAUSES 

 Sometimes a person’s negligent conduct combines with other people's conduct to 

cause harm. 

 When a defendant’s negligent conduct combines with the conduct of other persons, 

the defendant is legally responsible if his or her negligent conduct was one of the factual 

causes of the harm. 

 In such a case, Defendant is fully responsible for the harm suffered by Plaintiff 

regardless of the extent to which Defendant’s conduct contributed to the harm. 

 

COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE 

Defendant claims that Plaintiff was negligent and Plaintiff’s negligence was a 

factual cause of Plaintiff’s injury. Defendant has the burden of proving by a fair 

preponderance of the evidence that Plaintiff was negligent and that the Plaintiff's 

negligence was a factual cause of the plaintiff's harm.  Plaintiff does not have the burden 

to prove he was not negligent.  The burden is not on Plaintiff to prove his or her freedom 
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from negligence. You must determine whether Defendant has proven that Plaintiff, under 

all the circumstances, failed to use reasonable care for his or her own protection. 

VIOLATION OF STATUTE - NEGLIGENCE PER SE 

The law provides that Dr. Condon is obligated to follow and abide by certain state 

and federal regulations pertaining to patient care Dr. Condon must provide. The statute at 

issue requires Dr. Condon to act as follows:  

A. 75 Steelton Statutes § 5.71

In addition to use by the Department of Transportation, these physical and 
mental criteria shall be used by physicians, chiropractors, CRNPs and 
physician assistants in conducting physical examinations of applicants for 
learner’s permits and driver’s licenses and by physicians and other persons 
authorized to diagnose and treat disorders and disabilities covered in this 
chapter in determining whether a person examined by the provider should 
be reported to the Department as having a disorder affecting the ability of 
the person to drive safely. 

B. 75 Steelton Statutes § 5.81

Seizure—A paroxysmal disruption of cerebral function characterized by 
altered consciousness, altered motor activity or behavior identified by a 
licensed physician as inappropriate for the individual.  

Seizure disorder—Condition in which an individual has experienced a single 
seizure of electrically diagnosed epilepsy, or has experienced more than one 
seizure not including seizures resulting from an acute illness, intoxication, 
metabolic disorder, or trauma. 

C. 75 Steelton Statutes § 5.87

A person who has a seizure disorder will not be qualified to drive unless a 
licensed physician reports that the person has been free from seizure for at 
least six (6) months immediately preceding, with or without medication. A 
person will not be disqualified if the person has experienced only auras 
during that period.  Every provider who treats a person who has experienced 
a single seizure shall provide a report to the Department of Transportation 
which shall constitute cause for the Department of Transportation to 
immediately suspend that individual’s drivers’ license until the person is able 
to undergo an examination prescribed and conducted by a Department of 
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Transportation physician. 

Sam Shields claims that Dr. Condon violated these statutes.  If you find that Dr. Condon 

violated these statutes, you must find that Dr. Condon was negligent. 

If you find that Dr. Condon did not violate these statutes, then you must still decide whether 

Dr. Condon was negligent because Dr. Condon failed to act as a reasonably careful person 

would under the circumstances established by the evidence in this case. 

DEPOSITION TESTIMONY 

The testimony of a witness, who for some proper reason cannot be present to testify 

in person, may be presented in this form. Such testimony is given under oath and in the 

presence of attorneys for the parties, who question the witness. A court reporter takes down 

everything that is said and then transcribes the testimony. The use of videotape permits you 

to see and hear the witness as he appeared and testified under questioning by counsel. This 

form of testimony is entitled to neither more nor less consideration by the jury because of 

the manner of its submission.  
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF STEELTON 

 
SAM SHIELDS; 
 
  Plaintiff,     GD No.: 16-008771 
 
 v. 
 
CHRIS CONDON, MD; 
 
  Defendant. 
 
 

VERDICT FORM 
 
 You must decide whether any party was negligent and whether that negligence was a 
factual cause of injury. 
 
 I will now read you the questions on the verdict form that you must answer to arrive at a 
proper verdict: 
 
Question 1: 
 
Was Chris Condon, MD negligent?  Please answer: 
 
 
Yes___  No___ 
 
If you answer Question 1 “Yes,” go to Question 2. 
 
If you answer Question 1 “No,” Sam Shields cannot recover and you should not answer any 
further questions.  Tell the court officer you have reached a verdict. 
 
 
Question 2: 
 
Was the negligence of Chris Condon, MD a factual cause of any harm to Sam Shields? 
 
 
Yes___  No___ 
 
If you answer Question 2 “Yes,” go to Question 3. 
 
If you answer Question 2 “No,” Sam Shields cannot recover and you should not answer any 
further questions.  Please tell the court officer you have reached a verdict. 
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Question 3: 
 
Was Sam Shields negligent? 
 
 
Yes___  No___ 
 
If you answer Question 3 “Yes,” go to Question 4. 
 
If you answer Question 3 “No,” go to Question 6. 
  
 
Question 4: 
Was Sam Shields’s negligence a factual cause of any harm to Sam Shields? 
 
 
Yes___  No___ 
 
If you answer Question 4 “Yes,” go to Question 5. 
 
If you answer Question 4 “No,” go to Question 6. 
 
 
Question 5: 
 
Taking the combined negligence that was a factual cause of any harm to Sam Shields as 100 
percent, what percentage of that negligence do you attribute to Sam Shields and what percentage 
do you attribute to Chris Condon, MD? 
 
 
Percentage of negligence attributable to Sam Shields:  _____________% 
 
 
Percentage of negligence attributable to Chris Condon, MD:  ____________% 
 
 
 
         Total 100% 
 
 
 
If you have found Sam Shields’s percentage is greater than 50 percent, Sam Shields cannot 
recover and you should not answer any other questions.  Please tell the court officer you have 
reached a verdict. 
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